

# LUND UNIVERSITY

# Generating new models to study propagation and pathology of alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy

Holmqvist, Staffan

2016

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Holmqvist, S. (2016). *Generating new models to study propagation and pathology of alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Experimental Medical Science]. Lund University: Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
  You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Generating new models to study propagation and pathology of α-synuclein in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy

STAFFAN HOLMQVIST DEPARTMENT OF EXPERIMENTAL MEDICAL SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY 2016



Generating new models to study propagation and pathology of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy

# Generating new models to study propagation and pathology of α-synuclein in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy

Staffan Holmqvist



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at 13:00 on September 6<sup>th</sup> of 2016 in Segerfalksalen, Wallenberg Neuroscience Center, Lund, Sweden.

> Faculty opponent Professor Kwang-Soo Kim

Organization	Document name		
Department of experimental medicine.	Doctoral Dissertation		
Faculty of Medicine	D octorial D issertation		
Lund University			
Sweden			
	Date of issue 20160906		
Author(s) Staffan Holmqvist	Sponsoring organization		
Title and subtitle			
Generating new models to study propagation and	pathology of α-synuclein in Par	kinson's disease and multiple system atrophy	
Abstract			
Synucleinopthies are neurodegenerative diseases neurons and glia. Traditionally, animal models inclusions form, and how they impact on cellular have enabled the generation of neurons and glia, cells.	characterised by the formation and immortalized cell lines hav function. Recent advances in cel providing new models to study	n of $\alpha$ -synuclein-rich intracellular inclusions in we been used to investigate why and how these llular reprogramming and directed differentiation alpha-synuclein biology in patient-tailored brain	
The work presented in this thesis aimed to establish a platform of novel models to further address questions relevant to α- synucleinopathies. We created a library of human induced pluripotent stem cell lines from patients diagnosed with familial Parkinson's disease (PD) and multiple system atrophy (MSA), as well as healthy controls, which we extensively characterized. Using these new cellular models, we generated defined regionalized cellular subtypes relevant for modelling PD and MSA, such as dopaminergic neurons, oligodendrocytes and astrocytes, using efficient differentiation protocols. In contrast to previous studies, we found that α-synuclein is transiently expressed in oligodendrocytes during development and in the adult human brain. We also devised a transgenic strategy for generating reporter lines, from which pure populations of astrocytes could be obtained. These human astrocytes were capable of releasing cytokines and chemokines in response to stressors, and readily took up α-synuclein from their surroundings, demonstrating their relevance in modelling of synucleinopathies. Braak's hypothesis suggests that the pathology distribution. We found that following injection into the intestinal wall of rats, α-synuclein was transported via the vagal nerve to the brain, thereby strengthening the hypothesis postulated by Braak. The models and cell systems presented in this thesis have provided unprecedented possibilities to address key questions relevant to			
the initiation and progression of α-synucleinopathies PD and MSA.			
Key words Stem cells, iPSC, Astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, alp	ha-synuclein, Parkinsons diseas	e, MSA, Braak	
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English	
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-7619-313-6	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price	
	Security classification	· ·	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Stoffer Mr.

Date 2016-07-29

# Generating new models to study propagation and pathology of α-synuclein in Parkinson's disease and multiple system atrophy

Staffan Holmqvist



Cover photo by: Staffan Holmqvist

Copyright Staffan Holmqvist, 2016

Faculty of Medicine, Department of Experimental Medical Science, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

ISBN 978-91-7619-313-6 ISSN 1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2016:87

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2016



# Table of contents

Papers included in this thesis	9
Contributions outside of this thesis	10
Abstract	11
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	12
Abbreviations	13
Introduction	17
I Synucleinopathies: Focus on PD and MSA	17
Disease Staging	18
Genetics of Parkinson's disease	20
The SNCA gene	21
II Biology of α-synuclein.	22
Protein Structure	22
Cellular localization, function and propagation	23
III Emerging models to study α-synuclein pathology	29
Emerging stem cell Models	29
Aims	31
Results and Comments	
Paper I - α-Synuclein transport from the gut to the brain	
Paper II - A library of iPSC lines	
Paper III - SNCA expression in Oligodendrocytes	41
Paper IV - Astrocyte reporter lines	44
Conclusions and Future Perspectives	49
Conclusions	49
Future perspectives	50

Material and methods	53
General considerations	53
General methods and related tables	55
Key Methods used in Paper I	60
Preparation of $\alpha$ -synuclein species for injection into the guts of rat	60
Animals, injection of human $\alpha$ -synuclein and surgery	61
Fluorescent recovery after photobleaching, FRAP	62
Model fitting/FRAP data analysis	63
Key Methods used in Paper II	64
Generation and characterisation of iPSC lines	64
Generation of relevant cell types	66
Key Methods used in Paper III	67
Cell culture	67
Extraction of cell nuclei from adult human brain	68
Key Methods used in Paper IV	68
Generation of astrocyte reporter lines	68
Cell culture	69
Enrichment of astrocyte populations	70
Functional assays	71
Acknowledgements	73
References	75

### Papers included in this thesis

- I. S. Holmqvist, O. Chutna, L. Bousset, P. Aldrin-Kirk, W. Li, T. Björklund, Z.Y. Wang, L. Roybon, R. Melki, J.-Y. Li. Direct evidence of Parkinson pathology spread from the gastrointestinal tract to the brain in rats. Acta Neuropathologica. 2014. 128(6):805-20.
- S. Holmqvist\*, Š. Lehtonen\*, M. Chumarina, K.A. Puttonen, C. Azevedo, L. II. Olga, M. Ruponen, M. Oksanen, A. Collin, S. Goldwurm, M. Meyer, M. Lagarkova, S. Kiselev, J. Koistinaho, L. Roybon. Creation of a library of induced pluripotent stem cell models from Parkinsonian patients. npj Parkinson's Disease. 2016. 2:16009 \* Shared first authorship
- III. M. Djelloul, S. Holmqvist, A.B. Serrano, C. Azevedo, M.S. Yeung, S. Goldwurm, J. Frisén, T. Deierborg, L. Roybon.  $\alpha$ -synuclein Expression in the Oligodendrocyte Lineage: an *In Vitro* and In Vivo Study Using Rodent and Human Models. Stem Cell Reports. 2015. 5(2):174-84.

IVS. Holmqvist, M. Brouwer, M. Djelloul, A.G. Diaz, M.J. Devine, A. Hammarberg, K. Fog, T. Kunath, L. Roybon. Generation of human pluripotent stem cell reporter lines for the isolation of and reporting on astrocytes generated from regionally specified neural progenitors.

Stem Cell Research. 2015. 15(1):203-20.

### Contributions outside of this thesis

- J. Rostami, S. Holmqvist, V. Lindström, M. Ingelsson, J. Bergström, L. Roybon and A. Erlandsson Accumulation and spreading of α-synuclein oligomers in iPSC-derived human astrocytes *Manuscript*.
- II. Aldrin-Kirk P, Davidsson M, Holmqvist S, Li JY, Björklund T. Novel AAV-based rat model of forebrain synucleinopathy shows extensive pathologies and progressive loss of cholinergic interneurons. *PLoS One. 2014 Jul 7;9(7):e100869.*
- III. M.C. Zalis, J.F. Reyes, P. Augustsson, S. Holmqvist, L. Roybon, T. Laurell, T. Deierborg. Label-free concentration of viable neurons, hESC and cancer cells by means of acoustophoresis *Integr. Biol. 2016 8:332-340*
- IV. D. Cartelli, A. Aliverti, A. Barbiroli, C. Santambrogio, E. Ragg, F. Casagrande, C. De Gregorio, V. Pandini, S. Holmqvist, E. Chieregatti, S. Pieraccini, L. Roybon, G. Pezzoli, R. Grandori, I. Arnal, G. Cappelletti. Synuclein is a Novel Microtubule Regulating Protein *Manuscript accepted June 2016 Scientific reports.*

### Abstract

Synucleinopthies are neurodegenerative diseases characterised by the formation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein-rich intracellular inclusions in neurons and glia. Traditionally, animal models and immortalized cell lines have been used to investigate why and how these inclusions form, and how they impact on cellular function. Recent advances in cellular reprogramming and directed differentiation have enabled the generation of neurons and glia, providing new models to study alpha-synuclein biology in patient-tailored brain cells.

The work presented in this thesis aimed to establish a platform of novel models to further address questions relevant to  $\alpha$ -synucleinopathies. We created a library of human induced pluripotent stem cell lines from patients diagnosed with familial Parkinson's disease (PD) and multiple system atrophy (MSA), as well as healthy controls, which we extensively characterized. Using these new cellular models, we generated defined regionalized cellular subtypes relevant for modelling PD and MSA, such as dopaminergic neurons, oligodendrocytes and astrocytes, using efficient differentiation protocols. In contrast to previous studies, we found that  $\alpha$ -synuclein is transiently expressed in oligodendrocytes during development and in the adult human brain. We also devised a transgenic strategy for generating reporter lines, from which pure populations of astrocytes could be obtained. These human astrocytes were capable of releasing cytokines and chemokines in response to stressors, and readily took up  $\alpha$ -synuclein from their surroundings, demonstrating their relevance in modelling of synucleinopathies. Braak's hypothesis suggests that the pathology starts in the peripheral nervous system and progresses to the central nervous system (CNS), based on clinical observations of Lewy pathology distribution. We found that following injection into the intestinal wall of rats,  $\alpha$ -synuclein was transported via the vagal nerve to the brain, thereby strengthening the hypothesis postulated by Braak.

The models and cell systems presented in this thesis have provided unprecedented possibilities to address key questions relevant to the initiation and progression of  $\alpha$ -synucleinopathies PD and MSA.

### Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Parkinsons sjukdom och multipel systematrofi är exempel på alfa-synuklein sjukdomar. Parkinsons sjukdom upptäcks oftast då tidiga symptom som skakningar och muskelstelhet ger den drabbade problem att utföra vardagliga ting som att skriva eller att använda en smartphone. Problemen med rörelser beror på att nervceller dör i delar av hjärnstammen som har stor betydelse för just rörelser.

Man vet inte varför sjukdomsförloppet startar, men vid Parkinsons sjukdom hittar man anhopningar bestående av proteinet alfa-synuklein, inte bara i nervceller utan också i gliaceller, vars funktion är att stödja nervcellerna. Traditionellt har man använt sig av djur och enkla cellmodeller för att ta reda på varför och hur dessa anhopningar bildas, vilken påverkan de har på cellers funktion och om detta bidrar till att nervceller dör. I hjärnan finns tusentals olika nervceller och gliaceller och de är dramatiskt olika. Det är därför viktigt att använda sig av mänskliga celler som verkligen representerar de celler som påverkas vid Parkinsons sjukdom.

I denna avhandling har jag utvecklat nya modeller för att studera alfasynukleiproteinets påverkan på hjärnceller. Ny teknik gör det möjligt att omvandla patienters hud- celler till, först stamceller och sedan nervceller samt glia celler. På så sätt har vi skapat en stor samling av patient-specifika stamcellslinjer och, utifrån dessa, genererat de celltyper som påverkas vid Parkinsons sjukdom. Cellerna är inte endast av rätt typ, de har även relevant genetisk bakgrund, vilket gör dem lämpliga för studier av de bakomliggande mekanismerna vid Parkinsons sjukdom. Dessutom visar vi att oligodendrocyter, en typ av glia- celler, producerar eget alfa-synuklein, vilket kan visa sig vara av betydelse vid utvecklandet av multipel systematrofi. Vidare har vi utvecklat ett genetiskt verktyg och en strategi för att kunna studera astrocyter, en annan typ av stödjande gliaceller. Vi visar att astrocyter kan ta upp och sedan bryta ner alfa-synuclein i sin omgivning.

Anhopningar av alfa-synuclein, förekommer inte endast i hjärnan, utan hittas vid ett tidigt stadium, även i de nervceller som finns kring tarmarna. Det har därför föreslagits att Parkinsons sjukdom börjar i tarmen och sedan sprids via de sammankopplade nervbanorna till hjärnan. Genom att injicera alfa-synuklein i tarmväggen på råttor och sedan analysera råttornas nervbanor och hjärna, visar vi att alfa-synuklein kan transporteras från tarmen till hjärnan. Dessa resultat indikerar att en möjlig behandlingsstrategi vid utvecklandet av Parkinsons sjukdom, kan vara att bromsa eller förhindra denna spridning av alfa-synuclein.

De modeller och cellodlingsustrategier som presenteras i denna avhandling öppnar för nya möjligheter att studera hur alfa-synucleinsjukdomar som Parkinsons och multipel system atrofi börjar utvecklas.

### Abbreviations

AA	Ascorbic acid
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Atto488	Commercial fluorochrome
BAC	Bacterial artificial chromosome
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BiFC	Bimolecular complentation fluorescence
bp	Base pairs
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CBD	Cortico basal degeneration
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CDNF	Cerebral dopamine neurotrophic factor
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferas
CHIR	Aminopyrimidine derivative inhibitor of GSK3 (CHIR99021)
CNPase	2',3'-Cyclic-nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase
CNS	Central Nervous system
CRISPR-	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats-CRISPR
Cas9	associated protein 9
CSC	Stem Cell laboratory for CNS disease modelling
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
DAT	Dopamine transporter
db-cAMP	N6,2'-O-Dibutyryladenosine 3',5'-cyclic monophosphate sodium salt
DEAE	Diethylaminoethyl
DLB	Dementia with Lewy bodies
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMEM-	
F12	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium: Nutrient Mixture F-12
DMV	Dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus
EB	Embryoid body
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

ER	Endoplasmatic reticulum
ESC	Embryonic stem cell
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
FGF2	Basic fibroblast growth factor
FRAP	Fluorescen recovery after photobleach
GCH1	GTP cyclohydrogenas 1
GCI	Glial cytoplasmic inclusions
GDNF	Glial cell derived neurotrophic factor
GFA <sub>ABC1D</sub>	GFAP promoter fragment
GFAP	Glial fibrillary acid protein
GPC	Glial progenitors cell
GTPase	Hydrolyze guanosine triphosphate
HBSS	Hanks buffered salt solution
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HN	Hypoglossal nuclei
ICC	Immunocytochemistry
IGF1	Insulin-like growth factor
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
iPSC	Induced pluripotent stem cell
L-DOPA	L-3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine
Lam	Laminin
LDN	Small molecule inhibitor of BMP type I receptors ALK2 and ALK3 (LDN193189)
LRRK2	Leucine-Rich Repeat Kinase 2
MAO-B	Monoamine oxidase B
MBP	Myelin binding protein
MOG	Myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
MPTP	1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine
mRNA	Mitochondrial ribonucleic acid

MSA	Multiple system atrophy
MSA	Multiple system atrophy
MSA-C	Multiple system atrophy Cereberal
MSA-P	Multiple system atrophy Parkinsonian
NAC	Non-Abeta component
NDM	Neural induction medium
NEAA	Non essential aminoacids
NEUN	Feminizing Locus on X-3
NFkβ	nuclear factor kapa beta
NIM	Neural induction medium
NPC	Neural progenitor cell
NT3	Neurotrophin 3
o.n.	Over night
OLN-93	Glial cell line
OPC	Oligodendrocyte progenitor cell
P/S	Penicillin Streptomycin
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PD	Parkinson's disease
PDGFR	Platelet-derived growth factor receptor, alpha polypeptide
PDL	Poly-D-lysine
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PLO	Poly-L-ornithine
PrP	Prion protein
PSC	Pluripotent stem cell
PSF	Point-spread functions
PSP	Progressive supranuclear palsy
qPCR	Quantitative polymerase chain reaction
RAB	G-protein
RFP	Red fluorescent protein
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT	Room temperature

Real-time polymerase chain reaction		
Smoothened agonist		
Onhibitor of the transforming growth factor-beta 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1) activin		
receptor-like kinases ALK-4, -5 and -7 (SB431542)		
Sonic hedgehog		
Soluble NSF Attachment Protein receptor		
Synuclein alpha		
SRY-related HMG-box 10		
Triiodothyronine		
Tagged Red fluorescent protein		
Tyrosine hydroxylase		
Telomeric Repeat Amplification Protocol		
Weight per volume		
Wisconsin Cell (Research Institute in Madison)		
Rho kinase inhibitor (Y-27632)		

## Introduction

### I Synucleinopathies: Focus on PD and MSA

Emerging reprograming technologies have allowed the conversion of patient skin cells into pluripotent stem cells that can further be differentiated into patient-tailored cells, for disease modelling e.g. neurons and glia for human brain diseases. The aim of the research presented in this thesis was to establish new rodent *in vivo* models and *in vitro* stem cell-based models for studying onset and progression of synucleinopathies.

Synucleinopathies is an umbrella term covering three main disorders, Parkinson's disease (PD), dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB) and multiple system atrophy (MSA), but also including rare forms of neuroaxonal dystrophy. PD, DLB and MSA are clinically different but share their pathology is associated with abnormal cytoplasmic accumulation of protein-rich inclusions in neurons and/or glial cells. These inclusions are mainly composed of a protein called  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Spillantini et al., 1997), and are known as Lewy bodies when located in cell bodies and Lewy neurites when located in neuronal processes and terminals. Lewy bodies and Lewy neurits will in this thesis be collectively referred to as Lewy pathology. Lewy pathology is mainly found in neurons in the brain of PD and DLB patients. In the brain of MSA patients, however, Lewy pathology is mainly observed in glial cells, more precisely in oligodendrocytes. In MSA,  $\alpha$ -synuclein-containing inclusions are referred to as glial cytoplasmic inclusions (GCIs). MSA is comprised of two distinct subtypes, a parkinsonian subtype with nigral degeneration (MSA-P) and a cerebellar subtype with pontocerebellar degeneration (MSA-C) (Ghaemi et al., 2002). The contribution of Lewy bodies and Lewy neurites to synucleinopathies is still unclear, and it is currently unknown if the prevalence of Lewy pathology leads to neuronal loss, has no significant role, or is the result of cells sequestering misfolded protein in a harmless form.

The SNCA gene encodes  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein, and is one of several genes associated with PD. Genetically associated familial forms of PD account for only a few per cent of all cases, rendering most cases considered idiopathic. Epidemiological studies have found an association between increased risk of PD and exposure to environmental toxicants such as pesticides, solvents, metals, and other pollutants, and many of these compounds recapitulate some aspects of PD pathology in animal models. The native function of  $\alpha$ -synuclein is still largely unknown, but it has been suggested that the protein is involved in synaptic vesicle release and thus neurotransmission. In neurons,  $\alpha$ -synuclein is predominantly expressed in presynaptic terminals. The  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein structure conveys a tendency to aggregate through a series of intermediates, eventually forming fibrils, the main components of Lewy bodies. Since glial cells are not known to express  $\alpha$ -synuclein, the origin of  $\alpha$ synuclein in GCIs in MSA is still elusive, as is that located in oligodendrocytes and astrocytes in the brains of people with PD.

In this thesis, we aimed to develop new models that would allow us, and the scientific community, to investigate  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology, from its expression to its transfer and spread.

#### **Disease Staging**

#### Staging in PD

The neuropathological hallmark of PD is the loss of dopaminergic neurons in a region of the brain called the substantia nigra pars compacta, which originates from the developing ventral midbrain. Lewy pathology is observed in the remaining surviving dopamine neurons, and other neuronal cells, depending on the stage of the disease (Lebouvier et al., 2009). Indeed, evidence suggests that these neuropathological features are not only restricted to dopaminergic neurons, but are also widely exhibited in non-dopaminergic systems. The progressive spread of Lewy pathology, characterised by  $\alpha$ -synuclein immunopositive inclusions, marks the core of the neuropathological staging in most cases of PD.

Staging is based on clinical observations of the topographic and temporal distribution of Lewy bodies in post-mortem tissue (Figure 1). The inclusions first appear in the peripheral nervous system (e.g. enteric neurons in the gut, stage 1), then in lower brain regions, such as the dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus (DMV, stage 2) and to the substantia nigra (where the primary lesion of dopaminergic neurons locates in PD, stage 3). Eventually, inclusions can be detected in the cerebral cortex (associated with dementia, stage 4-6). These findings give rise to the notion that a neurotropic pathogen could penetrate the gut epithelium and enter axons of the enteric neurons in the myenteric plexus (Auerbach's plexus) - these neurons control the activity of gut smooth muscles, and/or axons of the submucosal plexus (Meissner's plexus), in which regulates mucosal secretion and blood flow. Braak and colleagues hypothesized that this pathogen might spread via retrograde transport to different interconnected brain regions (Braak et al., 2006; Braak & Del Tredici, 2009; Hawkes et al., 2009). In Braak's observations, Lewy pathology first manifests in enteric neurons of the gut (stage 1) long before it is present in dopaminergic neurons of the midbrain and PD symptoms are evident (stage 3) (Braak, Del Tredici, et al., 2003). The gap between stages 1 and 3 may take many years. From the periphery, the

pathology gains access to the lower brainstem via the vagal nerve and then follows an ascending pathway reaching the substantia nigra and subsequently, the cerebral cortex (Lerner & Bagic, 2008; Phillips et al., 2008).



Figure 1.

Distribution of inclusions in PD and MSA brains during disease progression. Adopted from Braak et al., 2006 and Halliday et al., 2015.

#### Staging in MSA

Disease progression in MSA patients has of late become a topic of growing interest. MSA affects different types of brain cells and inclusions are found in multiple neural systems of the brain, hence the name MSA (Dickson et al., 1999; Papp & Lantos, 1994). Traditionally, neuronal inclusions in MSA were considered to occur in low

numbers, and their topographic distribution is not as well defined as that of the prominent GCIs found in oligodendrocytes. Remarkably, the few studies that revisited this topic were limited to selected brain regions displaying GCIs (Arai et al., 1994; Arima et al., 1992; Benarroch, 2007; Braak, Rub, et al., 2003; Yoshida, 2007). However,  $\alpha$ -synuclein containing neuronal inclusions present in other brain regions, were identified in people with MSA using modern immunohistochemistry (IHC) methods (Cykowski et al., 2015; Yoshida, 2007). Similar to the distribution of Lewy pathology in PD, it was shown that neuronal cellular inclusions are topographically and progressively distributed in a hierarchal pattern. Neuronal inclusions are also observed in regions previously not implicated in MSA and in the absence of GCIs. If validated, these findings could provide a basis for disease staging in MSA similar to that of PD. Furthermore, these findings challenge the current view that MSA primarily is a glial disorder with only secondary involvement of neurons, and may suggest the  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology could originate in neurons, with glial pathology being secondary (Halliday, 2015). However, neuronal inclusions correlate neither to cell loss, nor to clinical phenotype. To clarify the implication of neuronal inclusions in MSA, further studies are required. These should focus on, but not restrict to, 1) primary tissue changes occurring at various stages, 2) how connected neural pathways and networks are involved at earlier time points, and 3) studies of genetic and epigenetic contribution to disease initiation. To address these points, relevant human models are necessary.

#### Genetics of Parkinson's disease

Parkinson's disease was long considered a non-genetic and purely sporadic disorder, but over the course of time, high prevalence of the disease in certain families attracted the attention of researchers. These familial forms of PD accounted only for a minority of the total number of cases but suggested a genetic, and thus, hereditary aspect in the development of PD. Consequently, in 1997 the *SNCA* gene (OMIM-163890) encoding for the α-synuclein protein was the first gene, identified to be associated with PD, further indicating that PD might be hereditary (Polymeropoulos et al., 1996; Polymeropoulos et al., 1997). Soon after these landmark studies, several reports on families with PD, lacking a link to *SNCA* gene appeared, revealing PD to be genetically heterogeneous. Since then, a large number of monogenic PD-loci have been described (Table 1). Mutations in *SNCA* (*PARK1*, *PARK4*), *LRRK2* (*PARK8*) and VPS35 (*PARK17*) cause autosomal dominantly inherited PD, while mutations in *PINK1* (*PARK6*), *DJ-1* (*PARK7*), *PARKIN* (*PARK2*), *ATP12A2* (*PARK9*), *PLA2GB* (*PARK14*) and *FBXO7* (*PARK15*) cause autosomal recessive PD and parkinsonism (Hernandez et al., 2016).

Collectively, monogenic forms of PD explain aproximately 30% of familial cases and only a limited number (less than 5%) of all cases (Kumar et al., 2011), suggesting

that PD is a multifactorial complex disease caused by an elaborate interplay between mostly unknown genetic and environmental factors, and these factors impact on the developing and aging brain, therefore leading to disease onset. Additional genes have been associated with PD, but are less studied (Hernandez et al., 2016).

In recent years, genome-wide association studies have examined large cohorts of PD subjects and identified a great number of risk loci (Satake et al., 2009; Simon-Sanchez et al., 2009). Notably, a recent study identified or confirmed 28 different risk loci, one of them being GTP cyclohydrogenase 1 (GCH1), an enzyme involved in the synthesis of a co-factor for tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), the enzyme responsible for the conversion of L-tyrosine into levodopa (L-DOPA), the direct precursor of dopamine (Nalls et al., 2014)

#### Table 1.

Loci involved in monogenic forms of PD (Hernandez et al., 2016)

Locus	Gene	Protein	Mode	OMIM <sup>∞</sup>
4q22.1	SNCA, PARK1,4 <sup>1</sup>	$\alpha$ -synuclein $^2$	Autosomal dominant	163890
6q26	PARK2	Parkin	Autosomal dominant	600116
1p36.12	PINK1, PARK6	Pten-induced putative kinase 1	Autosomal recessive	605909
1p36.23	PARK7	DJ-1	Autosomal recessive	606324
12q12	LRRK2, PARK8	Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2	Autosomal dominant	607060
1p36.13	ATP12A2, PARK9	Lysosomal type 5 ATPase	Autosomal recessive	606693
22q13.1	PLA2GS, PARK14	Phospholipase A2	Autosomal recessive	603604
22q12.3	FBXO7, PARK15	F-box only protein 7	Autosomal recessive	605648
16q11.2	VPS35, PARK17	Vacuolar protein sorting 35	Autosomal dominant	601501

<sup>1</sup> NACP, PD1 <sup>2</sup> alpha-synuclein, non-A-beta component of AD amyloid,

#### The SNCA gene

Initially, a guanine-to-adenine mutation (A53T, exon 4) was found consecutively in one Italian and two Greek PD families. Soon after this discovery,  $\alpha$ -synuclein was revealed as the main proteinous component of Lewy bodies (Spillantini et al., 1997), linking the rare familial forms of PD to idiopathic PD cases. To date, five mutations in the *SNCA* gene (A53T, A30P, E46K, G51D, and H50Q), as well as multiplications (duplication and triplication) of the full locus, have been identified (Chartier-Harlin et al., 2004; Ibanez et al., 2004; Singleton et al., 2003). A53T point mutation and multiplications have been found in several families while the remaining mis-sense mutations have only been found in one family each (Kruger et al., 1998;

Zarranz et al., 2004). Clinically, mutations in SNCA are generally associated with early disease onset, as well as L-dopa responsive Parkinsonism, autonomic dysfunction and cognitive decline; moreover, it was identified that disease penetrance varies between mutation (Kruger et al., 1998; Papapetropoulos et al., 2001; Zarranz et al., 2004). Furthermore, triplications and duplications of the full gene region have been identified in a handful of families developing early onset PD. Notably, multiplications of the SNCA locus cause an increase in SNCA mRNA levels and protein in brain tissue, and triplications of the SNCA locus lead to full disease penetrance and early and rapid progression, while duplications lead to delayed disease onset, with a phenotype that in general is more benign. It is interesting to note that both the severity of the PD phenotype and the age of onset correlate with the number of SNCA copies, suggesting contribution of a gene-dose effect in PD (Chartier-Harlin et al., 2004; Farrer et al., 2004). This supports the finding that specific polymorphisms in the SNCA promoter experimentally can lead to higher expression of a target gene. Although the these polymorphisms have not been linked to PD, it has been suggested that SNCA promoter polymorphisms may lead to altered expression levels and contribute to PD.



Figure 2.

a)  $\overline{3D}$  model of  $\alpha$ -synuclein cystal structure as bound to lipid vesicle b) Schematic of protein domains of  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein. Nterminal membrane interacting region, central aggregation-prone NAC region and unstructured C-terminal region implicated with nuclear localization.

### II Biology of $\alpha$ -synuclein.

#### Protein Structure

Mutations in the *SNCA* gene have established  $\alpha$ -synuclein as being critical in PD. Considering this, remarkably little is known about the normal function of  $\alpha$ -synuclein. *SNCA* encodes a 140 amino acid protein that is abundantly expressed in the central and peripheral nervous systems (Braak & Del Tredici, 2009; Iwai et al., 1995) (Figure 2). The protein lacks a well-defined structure in aqueous solution but exists in several quaternary states, from unfolded monomers to low molecular weight

oligomers to higher order amyloid fibrils, the latter being detected in Lewy bodies.  $\alpha$ -Synuclein is composed of three distinct regions: a) an amino-terminus region (residues 1-60), crucial for mediating  $\alpha$ -helical conformation shift upon binding to membranes (George et al., 1995), b) an unstructured c-terminus region, consisting of an acidic carboxyl terminal tail (96-140) implicated in nuclear localization and interaction of the protein with metals and small proteins (Ulmer et al., 2005), and c) a central region, containing a highly hydrophobic motif known as non-amyloid-beta component of amyloid AD plaques (NAC, 61-95) (Ueda et al., 1993). Studies of protein dynamics have shown that the NAC-region is essential for the formation of amyloid beta-sheets and  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregation (El-Agnaf et al., 1998; Giasson et al., 2001; Luk et al., 2009). The sequence of this region separates  $\alpha$ -synuclein from other members of the synuclein protein family, since it is not conserved between the paralogues alpha-, beta- and gamma-synuclein. Interestingly, three alternatively spliced  $\alpha$ -synuclein transcript isoforms containing the NAC region exist, but their physiological role is not well characterized (Cardo et al., 2014; Maroteaux & Scheller, 1991; Ueda et al., 1993).

#### Cellular localization, function and propagation

#### $\alpha$ -Synuclein in neurons

Synucleins were first identified using antisera created by immunizing rabbits with cholinergic synaptic vesicles purified from electric ray (Narcine brasiliensis). Immunolabelling using rodent tissue suggested a subcellular localization of synucleins associated with the nuclear envelope and the presynaptic terminal structures (Iwai et al., 1995; Maroteaux et al., 1988; Maroteaux & Scheller, 1991), a finding that coined the name synucleins. It was also proposed that these proteins were specifically expressed in neurons; this was later proven to be false (Barbour et al., 2008), as synucleins were identified in platelets and erythrocytes. Since these initial findings,  $\alpha$ synuclein has been shown to be abundantly expressed in neurons and is found not only in presynaptic terminals, but also within nuclei (Goers et al., 2003; Goncalves & Outeiro, 2013; Mori et al., 2002b), as well as in association with mitochondria (Cole et al., 2008; Devi et al., 2008; Shavali et al., 2008) and lipid rafts of mitochondriaassociated ER membranes (Fortin et al., 2004; Guardia-Laguarta et al., 2014). Furthermore, most SNCA mutations associated with PD are located in the membrane interacting region.  $\alpha$ -Synuclein preferably binds to high curvature membranes enriched in cholesterol, sphingolipids, and acidic phospholipids (Jensen et al., 2011) with greater affinity for high lipid:protein ratio membranes (De Franceschi et al., 2011).

In 1995, a study on song learning in juvenile Zebra finches reported on changed levels of mRNA transcripts in regions involved with control of song-learning. These regions showed sustained reductions in *Snca* expression during the period of song

learning. These results were supported by other studies demonstrating that  $\alpha$ -synuclein levels are modulated in conditions that confer injury (George et al., 1995; Kholodilov et al., 1999; Vila et al., 2000) or affect neuronal plasticity, showing that  $\alpha$ -synuclein could be a modulator of neurotransmission. A large number of studies have been oriented towards the presynaptic function of synucleins. Notably, studies using *SNCA* null mice or cellular systems where wildtype  $\alpha$ -synuclein acts at the synapse as a break for neurotransmitter release (Fortin et al., 2005; Murphy et al., 2000). Other work indicates a regulatory function of the protein by interaction with synaptic proteins such as phospholipase D2 (Jenco et al., 1998; Payton et al., 2004) and the family of RAB small GTPases (Dalfo & Ferrer, 2005), and acting as chaperon for the SNARE protein complex (Burre et al., 2010; Chandra et al., 2005). Previous studies also implicate  $\alpha$ -synuclein in mitochondrial activity (Dauer et al., 2002), chaperon activity (Bennett, 2005; Chandra et al., 2005) and microtubule stabilisation (Alim et al., 2002).

In summary,  $\alpha$ -synuclein is not essential for synaptic transmission in general, but may provide long-term regulation and maintenance of the synaptic terminals (Chandra et al., 2004).

#### $\alpha$ -Synuclein in oligodendrocytes

Glial cytoplasmic inclusions, distinctive for MSA, are found in oligodendrocytes. These are characterized by their main component,  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein (Kato & Nakamura, 1990; Papp et al., 1989; Tu et al., 1998; Wakabayashi et al., 1998). The distribution and occurrence of a-synuclein rich GCIs in oligodendrocytes indicates that these may play a pivotal role at disease onset and during its progression (Ozawa et al., 2001; Wenning et al., 1994; Wenning et al., 2008). The source of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and how GCIs are formed is however still debated. Earlier studies suggested that  $\alpha$ synuclein present in GCIs has an exclusively neuronal origin since SNCA is expressed in neurons, and not in oligodendrocytes (Miller et al., 2005; Ozawa et al., 2001; Solano et al., 2000). Thus, it was suggested that  $\alpha$ -synuclein might be released by injured neurons and actively taken up and accumulated by oligodendrocytes. However, since it was difficult to know whether neuronal injury preceded GCIs formation, it has also been postulated that an increase of SNCA expression could, over time, lead to increased  $\alpha$ -synuclein cellular accumulation and consequent aggregation. This aggregation and formation of GCIs may lead to oligodendrocyte dysfunction and subsequent neuronal injury (Fellner et al., 2011; Ubhi et al., 2011).

The hypothesis of oligodendroglial uptake is supported by several studies demonstrating neuronal release (Emmanouilidou et al., 2010; Hansen et al., 2011) and cell-to-cell transfer (Hansen et al., 2011; Luk et al., 2012) of  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Furthermore, mechanisms of oligodendrocyte incorporation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein have been described *in vitro* (Kisos et al., 2012). However, none of the studies observed the formation of GCI-like structures, including those employing inoculation of MSA

brain lysates into the brains of healthy mice (Ozawa et al., 2004; Prusiner et al., 2015). Perhaps healthy oligodendrocytes can handle and degrade exogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein and GCI formation is dependent on functionally impaired oligodendrocytes (Wenning et al., 2008).

In 2000, Richter-Landsberg and colleagues, reported on the transient expression of Snca in rodent glial cultures enriched in oligodendrocytes (Richter-Landsberg et al., 2000). In contrast, several studies showed a lack of SNCA mRNA in oligodendroglial cells (Miller et al., 2005; Ozawa et al., 2001; Solano et al., 2000). Interestingly, the finding by Richter-Landsberg and colleagues was neither confirmed nor further explored until Asi and colleagues, 14 years later, reported the detection of SNCA transcripts in post mortem brains by expression analysis of laser-capture dissected oligodendrocytes from the brain of control and MSA patients (Asi et al., 2014). Although not statistically significant, there was a trend towards increased SNCA levels in the MSA samples, demonstrating that SNCA is expressed in human oligodendrocytes, and supporting the hypothesis that a slight increase, over decades, might contribute to endogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein accumulation and GCI formation in MSA oligodendrocytes. The cellular mechanisms of GCI formation and altered oligodendrocyte function remain unknown. Patient-derived oligodendrocytes generated through reprogramming technologies (induced pluripotent stem cells and directed reprogramming) may help us identify the first steps leading to  $\alpha$ -synuclein accumulation and GCI formation, and provide new insights into the mechanisms behind MSA.

#### $\alpha$ -Synuclein in Astrocytes

Astrocytes are involved in a wide range of brain functions and are no longer considered merely passive homeostasis-maintaining cells of the brain. Their role in maintaining brain homeostasis in terms of pH (Obara et al., 2008), ion concentration, fluids (Simard & Nedergaard, 2004), and neurotransmitters (Sattler & Rothstein, 2006) is well established. During the last two decades, further functional roles have emerged, including formation and maintenance of the blood-brain barrier (BBB) (Abbott et al., 2010), regulation of blood flow (Carmignoto & Gomez-Gonzalo, 2010; Koehler et al., 2009), metabolic regulation (A. M. Brown & Ransom, 2007), formation and pruning of synapses, co-ordination of synaptic and non-synaptic signaling for surrounding cells (Hirrlinger et al., 2004; Volterra & Meldolesi, 2005) and facilitating neurotransmission in what has become known as the tripartite synapse (Halassa & Haydon, 2010).

The most direct evidence of astrocyte involvement in dopaminergic cell loss in the substantia nigra is that the administration of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP) cause L-DOPA responsive parkinsonism (Langston et al., 1983). MPTP is lipophilic and readily crosses the BBB. In astrocytes, MPTP is metabolized by monoamine oxidase B (MAO-B) to toxic MPP<sup>+</sup>. After release from the astrocytes, MPP<sup>+</sup> is taken up by dopaminergic neurons via the dopamine

transporter (DAT), where it induces neurotoxicity by inhibiting complex I of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. Since the discovery that MPTP causes Parkinsonism, this neurotoxin has been used for creating animal models of PD. An increase in MAO-B expression has not been observed in PD, but enzyme levels increase with age, which is a risk factor. MAO-B activity also correlates with cell loss in the substantia nigra (Fowler et al., 1980; Mahy et al., 2000). Furthermore overexpression of MAO-B under the glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) promoter in mice causes age-related motor dysfunction and degeneration of neurons in the substantia nigra, suggesting that increased MAO-B expression and activity is sufficient to induce Parkinsonism (Mallajosyula et al., 2008). In mice, MPTP toxicity and loss of TH fibres is to some extent dependent on astrocytic expression of myeloperoxidase (MPO), an oxidant-producing enzyme that is up-regulated in the ventral midbrain of PD patients, suggesting that its inhibitors might be of therapeutic value.

All astrocytes express the PD associated genes PINK1, DJ1 and PARKIN. Protoplasmic astrocytes also express PACRG, in contrast to fibrous astrocytes (Song et al., 2009). The supportive function that astrocytes have on neurons has been directly addressed using a D/1 knockdown model, as astrocyte specific D/1 knockdown was found to impair their neuroprotective properties. These findings support that astrocytic dysfunction may contribute to the progression of neurodegenerative disorders in general, and of PD in particular (Larsen et al., 2011; Mullett & Hinkle, 2009). There is no clear evidence that  $\alpha$ -synuclein is expressed in astrocytes (Gu et al., 2010); still, α-synuclein immunoreactive astrocytes are observed in cases of PD (Hishikawa et al., 2001; Shoji et al., 2000; Takeda et al., 2000; Terada et al., 2003; Wakabayashi et al., 2000), raising the question of the origin of  $\alpha$ -synuclein located in the astrocytic inclusions in PD? Abnormal accumulation of α-synuclein in astrocytes correlates with neuronal degeneration in the substantia nigra (Mori et al., 2002a; Wakabayashi et al., 2000), as well as the distribution of neural inclusions and disease severity (Braak et al., 2007). Reports of astrogliosis observed in post mortem PD brains are inconclusive and astrocyte activation has been described as pronounced (Hirsch et al., 2005), mild (Vila et al., 2001) or minimal (Mirza et al., 2000), suggesting large variability in astrocytic activation among PD patients. Interestingly, Song and colleagues compared the prevalence of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and astrogliosis between PD, MSA, progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP), and cortico basal degeneration (CBD) patients (Song et al., 2009). They found that astrocytic inclusions paralleled the spread of neuronal pathology, regardless of the disease. However, in contrast to PSP and -, protoplasmic astrocytes in PD and MSA did not display upregulation of GFAP, suggesting an attenuated protoplasmic astrocyte response in PD and MSA patient brains. It has also been experimentally demonstrated in cell systems that  $\alpha$ synuclein can propagate from neurons to astrocytes (H. J. Lee et al., 2010). Astrocytes also readily incorporate  $\alpha$ -synuclein from their surrounding environment (Fellner et al., 2013).

In summary, astrocytes might have a central role in both initiation and progression of PD. Astrocytic release of neurotrophic (Saavedra et al., 2006; Sandhu et al., 2009), as well as pro- and anti-inflammatory factors, likely play a regulatory role in the potential accumulation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and the progression of PD. Whether  $\alpha$ -synuclein can induce activation of astrocytes, and thus contribute to its regulatory role and disease initiation remains unknown.

#### $\alpha$ -Synuclein aggregation and propagation

Majority of brain regions affected in PD display inclusions consisting of aggregated  $\alpha$ synuclein protein. These inclusions are made up of many different "clumpedtogether" proteins that are involved in different aspects of cellular function: molecular chaperones that fold and re-fold proteins and ubiquitins that tag proteins for degradation by the proteasome system (Halliday et al., 2005; Uryu et al., 2006; Uversky, 2007). However, the main proteinaceous component of Lewy bodies is  $\alpha$ synuclein, specifically in its aggregated fibrillar form.  $\alpha$ -Synuclein is considered to natively be of unfolded monomeric form. This assumption has recently been challenged by reports of a tetrameric natively folded form, and proposed that a shift in the balance between tetramers and monomers may play a role in the onset of PD (Bartels et al., 2011; Burre et al., 2013; Dettmer et al., 2015).



Figure 3.

a) Schematic of the aggregation process of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the formation of inclusions through a series of alternative intermediate forms. Adpated from Oueslati et al., 2010 b) The pion-propagation hypthosis suggests misfolded  $\alpha$ -synuclein acts as template for the conversion of native  $\alpha$ -synuclein into misfolded form.  $\alpha$ -synuclein translocated from one cell to next propagates the inclusion spread.

Experimentally, in physiological solution,  $\alpha$ -synuclein exists as a mixture of disordered conformations of monomers (Weinreb et al., 1996). Many different factors have been reported to induce or modify  $\alpha$ -synuclein fibril formation including, mutations and post-translational modifications such as phosphorylation, truncation, oxidation, cross-linking and ubiquitination (D. R. Brown, 2007; Hoyer et

al., 2004; Oueslati et al., 2010; Paik et al., 1999). It is interesting to note that many disease-associated mutations are not located in the  $\beta$ -sheet conveying NAC region, but in the membrane interacting N-terminal. Fibrils are produced through the formation of a series of oligomeric intermediates. Artificially, many different oligomeric intermediates can be generated, depending on formation conditions, generated oligomeric intermediates can be of varying sizes and stability, adopting spherical, ring-like or chain-like structures (Figure 3a) (Ding et al., 2002). Each of these oligomeric forms are accompanied by specific traits in terms of toxicity, membrane interaction, protein interaction and propensity to seed further aggregation (Danzer et al., 2009; H. Y. Kim et al., 2009; Lashuel et al., 2013).

PD is considered a protein misfolding disease, sharing similar traits with other neurodegenerative diseases including Alzheimer's disease and the motor neuron disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, where protein aggregation is also identified. Braak and colleagues, to explain the spread of  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology, first suggested the hypothesis of a prion-like form of Lewy pathology propagation (Braak, Del Tredici, et al., 2003; Hardy, 2005). This hypothesis implied that misfolded  $\alpha$ synuclein would act as a template for the conversion of native  $\alpha$ -synuclein and in the end, the formation of inclusions (Figure 3b). Indeed, experimental in vitro investigations have shown that  $\alpha$ -synuclein transfers from neuron-neuron and can display such seeding-nucleation potential (Danzer et al., 2009; Iljina et al., 2016). Importantly, it was found that healthy dopamine transplanted into the brains of patients with PD, had developed Lewy pathology 20 years later (Kordower et al., 2008; Li et al., 2008). It is speculated that the transplanted cells were too young to have developed inclusions on their own, since they were derived from the foetal midbrain region of aborted human embryos. These findings suggested a transfer of αsynuclein from the host tissue to the grafted cells leading to inclusion formation, and supportive of the prion-like hypothesis.

However, there are important differences between PD and prion disorders, and it remains to be determined whether the aggregation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein observed in the grafts was the result of a lack of proper regulation of dopamine release via the synapse and consequent aggregation of  $\alpha$ -synuclein or a prion-like aggregation after seeding, since many of the grafts and most of the cells transplanted did not display any signs of  $\alpha$ -synuclein accumulation; this is contrasted by the relatively rapid progression observed in patients suffering from prion disorders (Mendez et al., 2008). There is also a clear gene-dosage effect of *SNCA* in PD, as evident in cases of *SNCA* triplication; while over-expression of the prion protein (PrP) protein might be detrimental to cell function, it does not result in the development of prion disease (Bendor et al., 2013). Furthermore, PD develops over several decades while prion disorders usually manifest within weeks or even days.

### III Emerging models to study $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology

#### Emerging stem cell Models

Numerous animal and cell line models have been developed and used in investigations of the disease mechanisms behind PD. However, cell lines used are usually immortalized and do not well represent human dopaminergic neurons and other cell types, affected in PD, animals require a lot of work and might show different vulnerability to disease-causing factors. Therefore many aspects of the underlying disease mechanisms behind PD are at the risk of being overlooked.

Induced pluripotent stem cells are a group of pluripotent stem cells that can be generated by over-expression of certain pluripotency transcription factors in somatic, terminally differentiated cells, such as skin fibroblasts. Less than a decade ago, it was reported that human 293T cells expressed T-cell gene functions following reprogramming using primary human T-cell extract (Hakelien et al., 2002). Soon after, Yamanaka and colleagues presented the "now routinely used" strategy of production of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC)s, where overexpression of rodent pluripotency genes *Sox2*, *Oct4*, *Klf4* and *c-Myc*, allows large-scale generation of iPSCs (Takahashi et al., 2007; Takahashi & Yamanaka, 2006).

Cell-reprogramming technologies have provided researchers with an unlimited access to patient derived cells, previously only accessible through post-mortem tissue. Each iPSC harbours a full representation of the patient's genetic landscape, which enables investigations of patient-specific models of genetic and sporadic diseases. Importantly, hopes are that iPSCs will provide terminally differentiated cells that can be used to develop completely humanized assays for high-content screens of neuroprotective compounds (Lamas et al., 2014; Y. M. Yang et al., 2013) and alternative therapeutic options. Cell reprogramming has also proven a useful resource for investigations of human cellular development (Figure 4).

To successfully apply cell-reprogramming technologies to the modelling of human brain diseases, it is essential to generate defined populations of human neurons and glia. Seminal work of directing pluripotent cells towards neural lineage by recapitulating embryonic development (Chambers et al., 2009; Munoz-Sanjuan et al., 2002; Ying et al., 2003; S. C. Zhang et al., 2001), has allowed efficient generation of neural progenitors.

Recent advances in culturing strategies allow generation of specific cell types of the midbrain identity required for modelling synucleinopathies *in vitro*. Naturally, most efforts have been directed towards generating functional dopaminergic neurons, capable of dopamine release and displaying expected electrophysiological characteristics (Chambers et al., 2009; Fasano et al., 2010; Kirkeby et al., 2012; Nat et al., 2007; Perrier et al., 2004; S. C. Zhang et al., 2001).

. Although protocols for generating bona fide astrocytes and oligodendrocytes exists (Jiang et al., 2013; Juopperi et al., 2012; Kondo et al., 2013; Krencik et al., 2011; Roybon et al., 2013; Serio et al., 2013; Shaltouki et al., 2013; Yuan et al., 2011), (Czepiel et al., 2011; Hu et al., 2009; Kang et al., 2007; Nistor et al., 2005; Stacpoole et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013), few describe the generation of astrocytes specifically of midbrain identity, and none exist to generate midbrain oligodendrocytes. There is currently a lack of reliable markers or functional properties that can be used to distinguish between glial cells from different regions of the brain, unless positional identity markers such as *HOXB4* or *OTX2* are used. However, since glial cells and neurons share the same developmental origin in neural progenitor cells (NPC) and radial glia, protocols describing the generation of glia from regionally defined NPCs can be implemented. So far, no protocols have been presented for the differentiation of iPSC lines into microglia, however there have been reports of direct conversion of monocytes into immunologically functional microglia (Ohgidani et al., 2015).

These new human cellular models have provided an unprecedented venue for modelling the initiation and the progression of multifactorial and complex diseases like synucleinopathies.



#### Figure 4.

Research strategies using induced pluriptotent stem cells. Skin biopsies from healthy or patient people are reprogrammed into stem cells by introducing stem cell transcription factors. The self-renewing iPSC cell lines are characterised and used to generate cell subtypes; astrocytes, neurons and oligodendrocytes for use in cell replacement therapy, patient stratification, drug discovery, hight content screens and disease modelling

# Aims

The overarching goal of this thesis was to establish a platform of models to further address questions relevant to the initiation and progression of  $\alpha$ -synucleinopathies, PD and MSA. We wanted to initiate our investigations, while developing models, by addressing a) whether  $\alpha$ -synuclein could propagate from the periphery to the brain, b) whether it could be taken up by brains cells, mainly glia, and c) the extent by which brains cells in general do express  $\alpha$ -synuclein.

Paper I:

- Address Braak's hypothesis and examine whether  $\alpha$ -synuclein pathology can propagate from the gut to the brain
- Investigate the mechanism of transport of aggregating forms of α-synuclein.

Paper II:

- Generate a library of iPSC lines with genetics relevant to PD and MSA.
- Generate neural subtypes of cells for prospective modelling of synucleinopathies in a dish

Paper III:

- Critically review whether SNCA is expressed in oligodendrocytes
- Investigate whether *SNCA* is expressed during oligodendrocyte development and in oligodendrocytes in the adult brain.
- Examine *SNCA* expression in oligodendrocytes from the brains of MSA patients.

Paper IV:

- Generate astrocytes from embryonic stem cell (ESC) and iPSC lines
- Create stable astrocyte reporter lines for enrichment of and reporting on GFAP expressing astrocytes
- Evaluate the relevance of astrocyte reporter lines in *in vitro* modeling of PD

# **Results and Comments**

Lewy pathological features of PD are not restricted to dopaminergic neurons; they are also widely distributed in non-dopaminergic systems correlating with disease severity. With increased clinical severity,  $\alpha$ -synuclein containing inclusions progressively appear in anatomically interconnected brain regions, including cortical regions (Braak et al., 2006; Braak, Rub, et al., 2003; Phillips et al., 2008; Wakabayashi et al., 1990). During stage 1, Lewy pathology is identified in the peripheral nervous system (e.g. enteric neurons of the gut). In stage 2 and 3, it is observed in lower brain regions, such as the DMV and the substantia nigra (where the primary lesions of dopaminergic neurons locates). Eventually, in stages 4-6, inclusions can be found in the cerebral cortex.

Reprogramming of human somatic cells by over-expression of "stemness" transcription factors, into pluripotent iPSC has offered unlimited access to patient cells for the study of human diseases (Takahashi et al., 2007; Takahashi & Yamanaka, 2006). Seminal work where pluripotent cells are efficiently directed towards neural lineage progenitors, by recapitulating embryonic development (Chambers et al., 2009; Munoz-Sanjuan et al., 2002; Ying et al., 2003; S. C. Zhang et al., 2001), has enabled efficient generation of specific cell neural subtypes. Subsequent advances in culturing strategies have allowed the generation of specific cell types of the brain such as dopaminergic neurons (Chambers et al., 2009; Fasano et al., 2010; Kirkeby et al., 2012; Nat et al., 2007; Perrier et al., 2004; S. C. Zhang et al., 2001), oligodendrocytes (Czepiel et al., 2011; Hu et al., 2009; Kang et al., 2007; Nistor et al., 2005; Stacpoole et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013) and astrocytes (Jiang et al., 2013; Juopperi et al., 2012; Kondo et al., 2013; Krencik et al., 2011; Roybon et al., 2013; Serio et al., 2013; Shaltouki et al., 2013; Yuan et al., 2011), from these neural progenitors. These findings have provided an unprecedented venue for modelling initiation and progression of multifactorial diseases like PD and MSA.

As previously mentioned, this thesis work aimed to address a) whether  $\alpha$ -synuclein could propagate from the periphery to the brain, b) whether it could be taken up by brain cells, mainly glia, and c) evaluate by which extent brains cells in general express  $\alpha$ -synuclein, having in mind the idea that exogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein could possibly seed aggregation of endogenous synuclein, therefore leading to its aggregation in a prion-like manner.
# Paper I - $\alpha$ -Synuclein transport from the gut to the brain

#### $\alpha$ -Synuclein transport from the enteric nervous system to the brain

Lewy pathology is not restricted to dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra. A progressive topographical distribution of inclusions from the peripheral nervous system to the CNS is observed in the brain of people diagnosed with PD (Kosaka et al., 1984). Braak and colleagues hypothesised that a neurotropic pathogen that penetrates the gut epithelium and induces pathology, retrogradely spreads to interconnected brain regions (Braak & Del Tredici, 2009; Braak, Del Tredici, et al., 2003).  $\alpha$ -Synuclein is propagated from neuron-to-neuron in experimental models (Desplats et al., 2009; Freundt et al., 2012; Hansen et al., 2011; Luk et al., 2009), including transplantation studies (Hansen et al., 2011). Experimentally,  $\alpha$ -synuclein spreads along projection tracts after injection into the brains of mice (Luk et al., 2012; Peelaerts et al., 2015), leading to loss of dopaminerigic neurons, reduced dopamine levels and motor deficits.

Paper I aimed to determine whether  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein could propagate from the enteric nervous system to the CNS. Wild type rats were injected with lysates containing human  $\alpha$ -synuclein of mixed molecular weights, prepared from the brain of a patient with confirmed PD (Figure 5). Within 48 hours,  $\alpha$ -synuclein was observed within axons of the vagal nerve, demonstrating that enteric neurons could take up  $\alpha$ -synuclein and transport the protein via the vagal nerve to the brain. When recombinant labelled aggregated  $\alpha$ -synuclein was injected, a similar time-dependent pattern of transport was observed.



#### Figure 5.

Schematic of  $\alpha$ -synuclein injection into rodent gut. Overview of the injection sites and pathways interconnecting the enteric nervous system and the CNS. DMV dorsal motor nucleus of the vagus, SNpc substantia nigra pars compacta, SNpr substantia nigra pars reticulata, HN hypoglossal nucleus.

 $\alpha$ -Synuclein was not detected in the vagal nerve 12 hours after injection. Interestingly, in a parallel recently published study, where investigators injected  $\alpha$ -synuclein into the olfactory bulb of mice, it was found that  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein could spread to distant interconnected brain regions within few hours of injection (Reyes et al., 2014). This discrepancy in transport rate could be explained by the relative immune privilege of the brain compared to the gut. Here, most of the injected  $\alpha$ -synuclein may be readily cleared away, leaving only a fraction of possibly aggregated synuclein subject to uptake and subsequently transport. Another explanation could be that the gut-to-brain propagation, in contrast to injections into the olfactory bulb, is mediated by a cell-cell and/or trans-synaptic dependent route of transport.

In order to verify that different forms of  $\alpha$ -synuclein are transported, animals were injected with defined recombinant forms of  $\alpha$ -synuclein (monomers, oligomers or fibrils). We found that 48 hours later,  $\alpha$ -synuclein was transported to neurons of the DMV. After 6 days,  $\alpha$ -synuclein was detected in Choline acetyltransferas ChAT<sup>+</sup> cholinergic neurons of the DMV (Figure 6), suggesting  $\alpha$ -synuclein was transported

to the brain regardless of its form. Notably, we did not observe any neuronal loss, astrogliosis or microglial activation in the midbrain of injected animals (data not shown). Interestingly, it has been shown that primary enteric neurons treated with the pesticide rotenone induce release of  $\alpha$ -synuclein and formation of inclusions in surrounding cells (F. J. Pan-Montojo & Funk, 2010). A study, from the same group also demonstrated that loss of ChAT<sup>+</sup> neurons in the DMV is induced by oral administration of rotenone, which could be rescued by vagotomy (F. Pan-Montojo et al., 2012). In Paper I, we did not observe any cell loss in the DMV, which could indicate an inherent resilience to some levels of potentially pathogenic  $\alpha$ -synuclein. Since rotenone is an inhibitor of complex I of the respiratory chain (Sherer et al., 2007), and has been reported to destabilize microtubules (Choi et al., 2008), one explanation for the observed cell loss reported by Pan-Montojo and colleagues could be due to the strong direct effect of rotenone on mitochondria residing in neuronal projections originating from the cell bodies in the DMV.



#### Figure 6.

Atto-550- $\alpha$ -synuclein forms specifically transported into the DMV, 144 h after injection into the wall of the intestine. To enhance the signal, the brain sections were immunostained with antibodies directed specifically against human  $\alpha$ -synuclein (Syn211, *red*, **a**–**e**, **a**"–", **a** 

Moreover, by performing fluorescent recovery after photobleach (FRAP) experiments using a Bimolecular fluorescence complementation (BiFC) strategy, in which fluorescent signal is revealed when complemented, and thus when  $\alpha$ -synuclein is aggregated, we demonstrated that aggregated  $\alpha$ -synuclein is directly associated with microtubules, possibly involved in active transport (Figure 7). Our unpublished data froma collaboration with the Canelletti laboratory in Milan, support this interaction (data not shown). Likely, the aggregated form of  $\alpha$ -synuclein is involved in all components of axonal transport, and associated with fast transporting cargoes just as monomeric  $\alpha$ -synuclein is (Jensen et al., 2011; Utton et al., 2005). Given the fact that the full vagal nerve length is about 110-140mm in adult rats, our *in vivo* findings suggest an average translocation rate of dozens of mm per day. This rate is similar to that observed by others (Rey et al., 2013; Utton et al., 2005), and within the reported range for fast microtubule-associated transport (Lasek et al., 1984).



#### Figure 7.

Normalized and summarized data from fitted curves for mobility of complemented  $\alpha$ -synuclein-BiFC-Venus,  $\alpha$ -synuclein-Venus, actin-GFP or Venus alone. Data shows increased mobility following destablization of microtubles by treatment with 10 nM vinblastine (Vin). \*p < 0.05; p < 0.0002; p < 0.0001.

Taken together, the findings of Paper I provide the first evidence that  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein can be retrogradely transported via the vagal nerve from nerves of the gut to the brain. This transport was confirmed for different  $\alpha$ -synuclein forms (monomers, oligomers, fibrils). Furthermore, we here provide additional evidence in support of aggregated  $\alpha$ -synuclein being subject to slow component a and b as well as the fast component of axonal transport.

# Paper II - A library of iPSC lines

#### Reprograming of PD and MSA patient fibroblasts into induced pluripotent stem cell lines

Several studies have used iPSC based models and reported on neuronal dysfunction reminiscent to mutations in PD-linked genes *SNCA*, *LRRK2*, *PINK*, and *PARK2* as well as in *GBA1*, of which deficiency leads to Gaucher's disease and is associated with increased risk of developing PD. These studies have demonstrated the advantages of iPSC based modeling of PD for mechanistic studies (Byers et al., 2011; Devine et al., 2011; Nguyen et al., 2011; Rhee et al., 2011; Woodard et al., 2014); (Park et al., 2014).



Figure 8.

a) Differentiated embryoid bodies generate cells of the three germ layers, immunopositive for alpha-fetoprotein (endoderm), smooth muscle antibody (mesoderm), and beta IIItubulin (ectoderm); nuclei are counterstained with DAPI. Scale bar represents 100 µm. n=2–3 independent experiments. b) Detection of telomerase activity by the TRAP assay.

The goal of Paper II was to generate a comprehensive library of iPSCs carrying various mutations in PD-associated genes, as well as iPSCs generated from patients diagnosed with MSA, and healthy controls. Various techniques exist to generate iPSC. Vector-facilitated reprogramming can be broadly divided into genome-integrating and genome non-integrating approaches, for example depending on which type of virus is used to introduce the reprogramming factors SOX2, OCT4, KLF4, and c-MYC. We generated iPSCs from patient fibroblasts using two different approaches: retroviral delivery of the reprogramming factors and a non-integrating approach, where factors were delivered using Sendai virus.



#### Figure 9.

Examples of pluripotency tests employed at characterization a) Representative images of iPSC lines differentiated towards neural, neuronal, and glial fates. IPSC lines differentiated for 12 days become midbrain neural progenitors co-expressing LMX1A and FOXA2 (shown for iPSC line CSC-1B); when progenitors are kept for 4 additional weeks in culture, they differentiate into FOXA2/tyrosine hydroxylase-expressing neurons (shown for iPSC line CSC-3G; aged 30 days *in vitro*). Culturing of the remaining undifferentiated neural progenitors for 5 additional weeks generates glial fibrillary acidic protein-expressing astrocytes. O4-positive oligodendrocytes can be generated from iPSC using medium devoid of retinoic acid. Nuclei are counterstained with DAPI. Scale bars represent 100 µm. Images are representative of n= 1–2 independent experiments. b) Upregulation of *SNCA* expression in *SNCA* triplication iPSC lines revealed by quantitative real-time PCR. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA; P40.0001, F(10;49) =30.03) followed by Dunnet's multiple comparisons tests shows SNCA triplication lines have a significantly higher *SNCA* expression over non-*SNCA* triplication lines. Mean ±s.e.m. p<0.001.

Extensive characterization was performed to ensure reprogramming into a pluripotent state (Figure 8a-b). Interestingly, we noticed higher levels of karyotypic abnormalities, as well as higher *SNCA* expression, in the iPSC lines generated using integrating vectors as compared to those generated using non-integrating Sendai virus. However, in order to appropriately answer if these indeed were effects of vector integration, we would need to empirically compare the two approaches using the same parental fibroblasts lines. Nevertheless, this finding was in line with a recent and similar discovery from Daley's laboratory (Schlaeger et al., 2015).

Interestingly, we observed higher *SNCA* expression levels in undifferentiated iPSCs generated from an *SNCA* triplication patient (CSC-3A, B, G, S) compared to other lines lacking the triplication of the *SNCA* locus (Figure 9b), suggesting that pathological changes may be initiated as early as at embryonic stage, although the disease may manifest later during adulthood. Moreover, it was recently reported that *SNCA* triplication impairs the differentiation of iPSC into neurons (Oliveira et al., 2015), in support of *SNCA* affecting early development of the CNS.

In Paper II, we provided the first comprehensive library of iPSC models generated from patients diagnosed with synucleinopathies. These human cellular models will be a valuable resource for identifying common and divergent mechanisms leading to neurodegeneration and glial dysfunction in PD and MSA.

# Paper III - SNCA expression in Oligodendrocytes

#### Oligodendrocytes dynamically express SNCA during their development

Evidence of oligodendrocyte expression of *SNCA* has been lacking for more than a decade while much effort has been placed into strengthening the hypothesis that  $\alpha$ -synuclein present in GCIs in MSA is of neuronal origin (Kisos et al., 2012; Reyes et al., 2014). It is indeed strongly suggested that neuronal  $\alpha$ -synuclein is transferred to oligodendrocytes where it accumulates and potentially leads to oligodendrocyte dysfunction and neuronal injury, similar to the experimentally established transfer of  $\alpha$ -synuclein between neurons in pre-clinical experimental PD models (Desplats et al., 2009; Freundt et al., 2012; Hansen et al., 2011; Luk et al., 2009). However, over a decade ago, Richter-Landsberg and colleagues reported on the transient expression of *Snca* in primary cultures enriched in oligodendrocytes (Richter-Landsberg et al., 2000). This finding was neither confirmed nor further explored. Paper III aimed to critically review *SNCA* expression in oligodendrocyte lineage cells.



#### Figure 10.

a) Identification of ASYN in O4+ oligodendrocytes in rodent postnatal primary forebrain culture by confocal microscopy. Nuclei are counterstained with DAPI. Scale bar represents 20  $\mu$ m b) Western blotting confirms the expression of the oligodendroglial marker SOX10 and  $\alpha$ -synuclein in Day 60 iPSCs. c)  $\alpha$ -synuclein is detected in O4+ oligodendrocytes, and is lost in mature oligodendrocytesexpressing the markers CNPASE, GAL-C, RIP and MBP. Scale bar represents 50  $\mu$ m.

Oligodendrocytes are abundantly produced during early post-natal development (Kessaris et al., 2006). In order to evaluate the expression of *Snca* in the major neural cell types, we began to analyse its expression in rodent cells using immunocytochemistry (ICC) and real time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR). To this aim, we generated cell cultures from the brains of mouse neonates and examined which cell types were immunoreactive for  $\alpha$ -synuclein.  $\alpha$ -Synuclein protein and transcripts were robustly identified in  $\beta$ -III-tubulin<sup>+</sup> neurons and in O4<sup>+</sup> oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs) Undoubtedly, our results support those made by Richard-Landsberg and colleagues fifteen years ago.

In order to address the dissonance of previous reports on *SNCA* expression in human oligodendrocytes, we wanted to investigate the dynamics of *SNCA* expression during oligodendrocyte maturation. For this purpose, iPSC lines generated from healthy, MSA or PD patients were directed towards an oligodendrocytes lineage using our improved protocol, adapted from the Fossati and Chandra labs (Douvaras et al., 2014; Stacpoole et al., 2013). At day 60,  $\alpha$ -synuclein could be detected in most O4<sup>+</sup> OPCs (Figure 10a-b), depending on the iPSC cell lines employed, in line with what we observed for primary mouse O4<sup>+</sup> OPCs. In contrast, at day 110, lower levels of  $\alpha$ -synuclein where observed in 2',3'-Cyclic-nucleotide 3'-phosphodiesterase (CNPase<sup>+</sup>) and meyline binding protein (MBP<sup>+</sup>) mature human iPSC-derived oligodendrocytes.

Interestingly, oligodendrocyte maturation was associated with a loss of SNCA expression. Importantly, a recent study comparing transcriptome profiles of mouse cortical neurons and glia, found Snca to be highly expressed in immunopanned PDGFR<sup>+</sup> OPCs but not in myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG) expressing myelinating oligodendrocytes (Y. Zhang et al., 2014), confirming Snca levels are high in immature oligodendrocytes, while they are low in mature ones (Figure 10c). We did not detect  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein or transcripts in GFAP<sup>+</sup> astrocytes and microglia in mixed cultures, which are cell types known to incorporate  $\alpha$ -synuclein from their surroundings (Boza-Serrano et al., 2014). This suggested that the  $\alpha$ -synuclein detected in oligodendrocytes was not released from neurons and subsequently taken up by the oligodendrocytes, since we also generated pure cultures of O4<sup>+</sup> oligodendrocytes following fluorescent activated cell sort (FACS)-isolation of PDGFRa progenitors, and could uniformly identify  $\alpha$ -synuclein in the cells as they matured into O4<sup>+</sup> oligodendrocytes. Moreover, our findings suggest that the source of the  $\alpha$ -synuclein, present in the inclusions found in astrocytes is still elusive and that  $\alpha$ -synuclein present in the CGIs may be come from oligodendrocytes themselves, rather than of neuronal origin.



#### Figure 11.

a) Schematic representation depicting the experimental approach used for assessing ASYN expression in oligodendrocyte lineage nuclei isolated from brains of healthy and MSA patients b) FACS plots representing the gating strategy employed for isolating SOX10+ oligodendrocyte lineage nuclei from the samples c) Quantitative real-time PCR showing SNCA transcripts in SOX10+ oligodendrocyte lineage nuclei samples purified by FACS from patients T172 and T4640.

Reports of absence of *SNCA* transcripts in oligodendrocytes of the adult brain of healthy and MSA patients (Iwai et al., 1995; Miller et al., 2005; Solano et al., 2000), suggest that human oligodendrocytes do not express *SNCA*, *in vivo*. Based on our results, and conflicting reports, we wanted to revisit this hypothesis and took advantage of a previously developed technique to isolate human oligodendrocyte lineage nuclei by FACS (Ernst et al., 2014; Spalding et al., 2005; Yeung et al., 2014). To assess the presence of *SNCA* transcripts, we prepared and FACS sorted nuclei samples from the pons of post mortem tissue from three healthy individuals and three confirmed MSA patients (Figure 11a-b). We found lower proportions of neurons in

the pons of MSA patients by quantification of neuronal NEUN<sup>+</sup> nuclei, confirming neuronal loss in MSA (Cykowski et al., 2015; Papp & Lantos, 1994). In contrast to previous reports, we found that human oligodendrocyte lineage cells do indeed express *SNCA*, as indicated by the presence of *SNCA* transcripts in SOX10<sup>+</sup> nuclei isolated from post-mortem brains of healthy and MSA patients (Figure 11c). Interestingly, a parallel study observed *SNCA* expression in laser-capture dissected oligodendrocytes from post mortem brains. No statistically significant difference between MSA and PD brains was found, but this study was in line with our findings of expression of *SNCA* in oligodendrocyte lineage cells in the adult human brain.

Taken together, Paper III bring substantial evidence of SNCA expression in oligodendrocytes; thereby challenging the assumption that  $\alpha$ -synuclein present in GCIs is of neuronal origin.

## Paper IV - Astrocyte reporter lines

# Generation and characterization of astrocyte reporter lines for the isolation and identification of human astrocytes

The release of neurotrophic (Saavedra et al., 2006; Sandhu et al., 2009) as well as proand anti-inflammatory factors by astrocytes (S. S. Choi et al., 2014; Farina et al., 2007; H. J. Lee et al., 2010), likely plays a regulatory role in neurodegenerative diseases such as PD. Whether  $\alpha$ -synuclein can induce the activation of astrocytes, and thus contribute to this regulatory role and prospectively disease initiation, remains unknown. Previous work from the Lee lab (H. J. Lee et al., 2010) showed that  $\alpha$ synuclein, released by *SNCA*-overexpressing neuroblastoma cells, was taken up by primary rodent astrocytes, resulting in an up-regulation of pro-inflammatory mediators e.g. IL-6 and CCL2. This finding was appealing since these factors lead to microglial activation and recruitment (Farina et al., 2007; Gomez-Nicola et al., 2013), which has been postulated to contribute to neuronal loss in PD (Gu et al., 2010; H. J. Lee et al., 2010).

We wanted to investigate if human astrocytes could take up  $\alpha$ -synuclein from their surroundings and whether this uptake of  $\alpha$ -synuclein would result in a detrimental shift in astrocyte function e.g. release of pro-inflammatory cytokines rather than release of neuronal survival factors. One major concern when analysing whole cultures, is the presence of various cell types, which even in minority, can hinder an assay. Indeed, slight variations in the microenvironment of individual cells differentiated towards a specific lineage, often results in heterogenous cultures. Cellular heterogeneity of stem cell-derived glia includes neuroepithelial cells, neural progenitors cells, oligodendrocytes and few neurons, as well as a minority of cells of another germ layer, which could result in astrocyte specific signatures being concealed during data analysis. Earlier studies commonly utilised techniques based on rotaryshaking (McCarthy & de Vellis, 1980) or immunopanning (Foo et al., 2011; H. Yang et al., 2016) in order to enrich glial populations. Although these methods work well for primary glial cultures, they are not optimal when working with stem cellderived glia.

To overcome the issue of heterogeneity, and therefore increase specificity of our read out, one of the goals of Paper IV was to create astrocyte reporter lines that would allow FACS-based purification of astrocytes using a fluorescent tag. Several methods exist to generate fluorescence-based reporter cell-lines. bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) transgenesis (Placantonakis et al., 2009; Rostovskaya et al., 2012) and gene targeting (Fischer et al., 2010; Y. Liu et al., 2011) are the most commonly used, but these require large plasmids, which can easily break during electroporation, resulting in fragmented constructs, or are costly and labour-intensive. A simple and straightforward method, perhaps not as optimal as the new techniques employing CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing, is the generation of reporter lines by nucleofection (Di Giorgio et al., 2008).



#### Figure 12.

a) Long-term characterisation of FACS-purified cultures of astrocytes generated from regionally defined neural progenitors. Panel of canonical markers expressed by iPSC derived astrocyte 40 days post-enrichment by FACS; at this time point, cultures are 130 DIV. Images show homogenous cultures of astrocytes co-expressing TagRFP and canonical markers NF1A, CX43, GLAST, GS, S100β and CD44. Nuclei are indicated with DAPI staining. Scale bar in main panel represents 20 µm and in insets 5 µm (bottom right panels).

In Paper IV, we generated a construct, driving TagRFP expression in our PSC lines, using the human GFA<sub>ABC1D</sub> promoter fragment, previously shown to accurately direct expression in astrocytes of most brain regions, including the midbrain, and capable of

retaining specificity over (Y. Lee et al., 2008). The construct was electroporated into human ESC and iPSC lines and drug resistant clones were then individually picked and expanded (Figure 16a-b). We then differentiated these PSC reporter lines into midbrain NPCs, and subsequently differentiated those into astrocytes. At day 130 following enrichment by FACS, cultures contained cells co-expressing TagRFP with early (GFAP, nuclear factor 1-alpha, NF1A), intermediate (CD44, Connexin 43, CX43, S100 calcium-binding protein B, S100B), and mature (Glutamate aspartate transporter, GLAST, Glutamine synthetase GS) markers of astrocytes (Roybon et al., 2013) (Figure 12). At this stage, there was an almost complete overlap between the reporter and GFAP. Interestingly, during the pre-screening stage, at day 70, not all GFAP-expressing astrocytes co-expressed GFAABCID:: TagRPF. This lack of specificity might be a result of subpopulations of astrocytes being generated in the culture or due to the random insertions of the reporter construct. Moreover, the GFA<sub>ABCID</sub> promoter fragment is missing several regulatory elements compared to the full-length human promoter (Y. Lee et al., 2008), which may have resulted in loss of expression of the fluorescent reporter in some of these astrocyte subpopulations. It should also be noted that the specificity of the GFAABC1D promoter fragment was initially determined in rodents. Importantly, it is possible that the difference between reporter expression and GFAP also could be attributed to the dynamic expression of GFAP and to the usually short half-life of this intermediate filament protein, compared to the stable fluorescent proteins such as RFP (Chiu & Goldman, 1984).



#### Figure 13.

a) Upper panel images show cellular localization of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in 90 days old unpurified midbrain astrocyte cultures treated for 3 h with ATTO488-labeled  $\alpha$ -synuclein species. Lower panel images show cellular localization of  $\alpha$ -synuclein in cultures treated with ATTO488-labeled  $\alpha$ -synuclein species, at 7 days. White arrowheads pinpoint DNA fragmentation. Scale bar represents 10 µm. b) Astrocytes overexpressing  $\alpha$ -synuclein or treated with different species of  $\alpha$ -synuclein did not release cytokine IL-6 (n=3).

 $\alpha$ -Synuclein containing inclusions are observed in astrocytes of PD patient brains (Braak, Del Tredici, et al., 2003; Wakabayashi et al., 2000), but SNCA expression has not been observed in astrocytes. These observations raise the question of the origin of  $\alpha$ -synuclein found in the inclusions in astrocytes. It has been suggested that  $\alpha$ -synuclein released by neurons, is taken up by astrocytes (Braak et al., 2007). We found that exogenous Atto488-labelled  $\alpha$ -synuclein (monomeric or fibril) is readily incorporated and degraded by human midbrain-derived astrocytes (Figure 13a). Interestingly, monomers accumulate as peri-nuclear inclusions (Bousset et al., 2013; H. J. Lee et al., 2010) (most likely in ER-Golgi), while fibrils also adhere outside the plasma membrane. This was also observed in an OLN-93 cell line model, suggesting the phenomena not to be cell type specific (Reyes et al., 2014).

Experimental models have shown that astrocytes can take up different forms of exogenous α-synuclein (monomeric, oligomeric)(Fellner et al., 2013; W. Zhang et al., 2005), resulting in the release of pro- and anti-inflammatory factors (Klegeris et al., 2006; H. J. Lee et al., 2010) and impaired mitochondrial function (Braidy et al., 2013). Interestingly, Song and colleagues found  $\alpha$ -synuclein to accumulate only in protoplasmic astrocytes, and not in fibrous astrocytes, suggesting astrocytes involvement in PD might be astrocyte subtype specific (Song et al., 2009). To find out whether exogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein could trigger an inflammatory response in human ESC and iPSC-derived astrocytes, we over-expressed or treated astrocytes with different forms of human  $\alpha$ -synuclein (wild type, mutant A53T, or recombinant monomers, oligomers, and fibrils), and evaluated release of IL-6 and nuclear translocation of nuclear factor k (data not shown). We did not observe any substantial release of IL-6 in response to  $\alpha$ -synuclein uptake, in contrast to previous reports by the Lee lab (Figure 13b) (H. J. Lee et al., 2010). Lee and colleagues indeed observed that primary rodent astrocytes up-regulated chemokines and cytokines following treatment with conditioned media from  $\alpha$ -synuclein over-expressing neuroblastoma cells. Although  $\alpha$ -synuclein clearly was released by the over-expressing, and potentially dying neuronal cells, and transferred to the astrocytes, it is likely that the observed up-regulation of cytokines and chemokines was due to the uptake of other factors released by these cells, such as reactive oxygen species. Moreover, there are fundamental differences in both morphology and function between human and rodent astrocytes (Oberheim et al., 2009), as recently demonstrated by Needergaard lab (Han et al., 2013). Whether this inter-species heterogeneity also extends to the astrocyte specific response to injury and inflammation is currently unknown and needs to be further investigated. It is worth mentioning that previous reports have highlighted the fact that astrocytes release neurotrophic factor glial cell derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) (Saavedra et al., 2006 {Sandhu, 2009 #287) and antioxidant glutathione (Sandhu et al., 2009), in response to dopaminergic neuronal damage, suggesting that supporting astrocytes also exhibit a neuroprotective function in the disease. Thus, future investigations should evaluate the release not only of directly cytotoxic factors, but also that of neuroprotective ones as well as the interplay between human astrocytes and human microglia during neurodegeneration.

Taken together, the data presented in Paper IV show how astrocyte reporter lines can provide pure populations of astrocytes and how these can be used when modelling effects of  $\alpha$ -synuclein on astrocytes.

# **Conclusions and Future Perspectives**

#### Conclusions

In Paper I, we provides the first experimental evidence that different forms of  $\alpha$ -synuclein can propagate from the gut to the brain. Consistent with previous investigations, we show that  $\alpha$ -synuclein is propagated via a microtubule-associated transport-dependent manner. Paper I also provides support to the Braak hypothesis which advocates that Lewy pathology in PD starts in the enteric nervous system and spreads to the brain, where it leads to neurodegeneration primarily of dopamine neurons, resulting in locomotor impairment.

One of the aims of the work in this thesis has been to investigate whether glial cells can take up exogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein, adopt a detrimental phenotype, and contribute to neurodegeneration of dopamine neurons. Towards this aim, in Paper II, we generated a library of extensively characterized induced pluripotent stem cell lines and generated disease-relevant and defined cell types e.g. dopamine neurons and glia. These lines are summarised in Paper II, Figure 1. We envision that this type of resource can be applied to the research of biomarkers, patient stratification, as well as humanized high-throughput assays for drug discovery and environmental chemical safety assessment. Derived from a broad range of patients diagnosed with PD and MSA, the iPSC line libary provides a useful platform for identifying how genetics, and cell-type specific functions, contribute to neurodegeneration in PD and MSA.

This resource is used in Paper III, and allowed us to address SNCA expression in human oligodendrocytes. We found that  $\alpha$ -synuclein transiently expressed in oligodendrocyte lineage cells during maturation. This study is the first to report on the generation of PD and MSA iPSC-derived oligodendrocytes, and follow-up investigations may also provide significant insights into the functional role of  $\alpha$ synuclein during development of neuronal lineages. Paper III supports earlier findings made in rodents by Richter-Landsberg and colleagues, of  $\alpha$ -synuclein expression in oligodendrocytes (Richter-Landsberg et al., 2000). This discovery challenges the conjecture that  $\alpha$ -synuclein found in GCIs, in MSA, has a neuronal origin, and suggests it may instead originate within the oligodendrocytes themselves. It remains to be determined how significant these findings are in order to better understand the mechanisms behind MSA.

Paper IV shows that exogenous  $\alpha$ -synuclein is taken up and sequestered intracellularly by iPSC-derived human astrocytes, and does not contribute to

inflammation. In order to show this we generated astrocyte reporter lines, from which highly pure populations of astrocytes were obtained. We also differentiated regionally defined progenitor cells into mature human midbrain astrocytes that were capable of releasing cytokines and chemokines in response to stressors.

## Future perspectives

The work presented in this thesis raises a number of questions that would be interesting to pursue. A string of recent scientific advances, during a relatively short time, has been developed, this include the creation of the first human embryonic stem cells by James Thomson (Thomson et al., 1998), the induction of human iPSC lines (Takahashi & Yamanaka, 2006) enabling patient specific model systems (Takahashi & Yamanaka, 2006), and the recently developed gene editing techniques (Doudna & Charpentier, 2014), with the potential for precise correction and manipulation of the genome (Doudna & Charpentier, 2014). These discoveries, potentiated by synergistic effects, have presented unprecedented opportunities for disease modelling of PD.

Considering that non-neuronal cells, including but not limited to oligodendrocytes in MSA, contribute to the PD pathology, our iPSC library will allow for disease mechanism analyses and drug screens practically with all cell types involved in the development of the disease. Moreover, three-dimensional cell culture models also called organoids (S. H. Choi et al., 2014; Y. H. Kim et al., 2015; Pasca et al., 2015), and transplantation of iPSC-derived neural cells into the rodent brain are still other promising pre-clinical experimental strategies to be pursued using PD-iPSC lines, to reveal the contribution of genetic factors to the disease (Avaliani et al., 2014; Pomeshchik et al., 2015; Thompson & Bjorklund, 2015; Wang et al., 2013). In addition, isogenic lines could be created by CRISPR-Cas9 which would serve as excellent controls in order to dissect the contribution of specific pre-defined mutations compared to those associated with the genomic landscape.

The reporter lines we generated in Paper IV could efficiently be used in order to devise new protocols for robust generation of human PSC-derived astrocytes from other brain regions (e.g. dorsal and ventral forebrain), provided that reporter expression is confirmed in cortical and striatal astrocytes. Furthermore, we have already developed and tested a strategy in which the *GFA*<sub>ABC1D</sub>::*TagRFP* is delivered into cell lines by lentiviral delivery. This approach enables large-scale isolation of pure patient-specific astrocyte cultures for studies concerning patient stratification or identification of divergent functional pathways through application of transcriptome analysis.

In experimental cell replacement therapies, graft survival and sufficient circuit integration is of pivotal importance (Daviaud et al., 2013; J. Liu & Huang, 2007). To address such issues, co-transplantation strategies, where neurons are transplanted

together with glia, has been proposed (Noble et al., 2011). To this aim, fluorescentbased reporter lines such as that presented in this thesis, is of interest. Of note, transplantation of regionally specific astrocytes, might further improve graft survival and successful integration.

In the enteric nervous system, enteric glial cells are intriguingly positioned in the submucosal plexus surrounding neurons and contacting intestinal epithelial cells (Clairembault et al., 2014; Jessen & Mirsky, 1980). GFAP expression is increased in the intestinal tracts of PD patients (Devos et al., 2013), correlating with increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Devos et al., 2013; Ruhl et al., 2001). Multiple lines of evidence support Braak hypothesis, thus, future investigations should consider investigating enteric glia and enteric gliosis as potential therapeutical targets.

# Material and methods

# General considerations

#### Ethical considerations

All procedures were conducted in accordance with national and European Union directives. Animal housing and procedures as well as the derivation of mouse ESC lines and generation of human iPSC lines, the latter using viral-mediated gene delivery, were conducted in accordance with ethical permit approved by Malmö-Lund Committee for animal research, as well as the Swedish Work Environment Authority (Arbetsmiljö verket).

#### Human Tissues

Brain lysates injected into rodents in the propagation study, were prepared from the brain of a neuropathologically confirmed PD case. Dr. Elisabet Englund at the Brain Bank of Lund University Hospital provided brain tissue. The patient died of acute aspiration and subsequent cardiac arrest due to advanced PD. Fresh substantia nigra was dissected out (20 h postmortem) and immediately frozen and stored at -80 °C.

For the generation of iPSC lines, human fibroblasts were collected by skin punch biopsy from healthy individuals and individuals diagnosed with PD and MSA. Diagnosis of primary degenerative Parkinsonism fulfilled current criteria for probable PD or MSA. Fibroblast cell lines used to generate iPSC lines CSC-21B, CSC-21C and CSC-22A were commercially obtained from the Coriell institute. The mutations (*PARKIN* p.*C253Y*, *PARKIN* p.*R275W*, *LRRK2* p.*G2019S*, *LRRK2* p.*R1441C*, *GBA* p.*L444P*, *GBA* p.*N370S* and *PINK* p.*Q456X*) were confirmed by direct DNA sequencing (Eurofins Genomics).

In the study of *SNCA* expression in oligodendrocyte lineage cells, tissue from pons was used. Human tissues from three healthy and three individuals diagnosed with MSA, with confirmed GCIs in oligodendrocytes, were obtained from the New York brain bank at Columbia University (New York, USA).

#### Microscopy, imaging and artwork

Images of stained tissues were acquired using a BX53 Olympus microscope using settings for bright field or epifluorescence imaging. Most cultured cells were imaged

with an inverted Olympus IX73 epifluorescence microscope, equipped with Hamamatsu C11440 Orcaflash 2.8 camera. Some cultures were imaged using laser scanning confocal microscope (Leica) or automated plate runner (Trophos). For each acquisition at the same magnification and combination of antibody probes, identical settings were used for exposure time, digital gain, etc.

## Laser Scanning Confocal microscopy

Confocal microscopic images of double-labelled medulla oblongata were captured using a Leica SP8 Scanning confocal microscope using a HyD detector and sequential scanning to avoid bleed-through. Solid-state lasers at wavelengths 488- and 552- and 650 nm were used to excite the respective fluorophores. Pinhole was retained at Airy 1 for all acquisitions. For each acquisition at the same magnification, identical settings were loaded for laser power and gain. Post-acquisition, deconvolution was performed using the "Deconvolution" plugin for ImageJ [developed by the Biomedical Imaging Group (BIG), EPFL, Switzerland http://bigwww.epfl.ch/] utilizing the Richardson– Lucy algorithm and applying point-spread functions (PSFs) calculated for the specific imaging equipment using the Gibson and Lanni model in the PSF Generator (BIG, EPFL, Switzerland http://bigwww.epfl.ch/algorithms/psfgenerator/). The same PSF models and deconvolution parameters were applied to all image stacks at the same magnification. Orthogonal projections were generated using ImageJ (v1.48p) without further modifications of the images.

#### Automated imaging and image analysis using Metamorph

Whole well images were acquired using the Plate Runner HD from Trophos, at a resolution of 2046 x 2046 pixels and 4092 x 4092 pixels). Overview images were presented without post processing.

Automated quantitative image analysis of fluorescent and stained reporter line astrocyte cultures was performed using MetaMorph Software V7.8.6.0 (Molecular Devices). Quantitative analysis of stained hPSC-derived astrocyte cultures was performed using the Multi-Wavelength Cell Scoring application. For a specific marker, positive cells were selectively identified as having clear signal intensity above local background. Intensity thresholds were set blinded to sample identity.

#### Figures and artwork

Vector graphics and schematics were created using Adobe illustrator CS5 and figures were arranged and compiled using Adobe InDesign CS5 (Adobe Systems, San Jose, USA). Some figures were arranged using Canvas Draw 3 (ACD Systems, Seattle, USA). When applicable artwork and schematics where processed using Adobe Photoshop CS5. 3D model of  $\alpha$ -synuclein was generated using UCSF Chimera software version 1.8 (RBVI, UCSF)

#### **Statistics**

All quantitative data were analyzed using Prism 6.0 (developed by GraphPad Software, San Diego, USA http:// <u>www.graphpad.com</u>). In general, sample groups were subjected to one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and unpaired *t-test*.

When investigating *SNCA* expression in oligodendrocyte lineage cells, each single experiment was started from pluripotent stem cell stage for mouse and human cells, and freshly harvested brain cells for mouse primary cultures. Per experiments, 5-7 random fields of view were counted, at low magnification (10X objectives). Sometimes, images from up to 3 separate wells were analyzed. Sample groups were subjected to un-paired *t-test*.

In FRAP experiments groups were analyzed using one-way ANOVA for difference among the groups, then groups were compared in-between pairwise by student's *t*-*test*.

# General methods and related tables

## RT-qPCR

RNA extraction was carried out using Trizol, followed by RNA purification through columns according to manufacturers instructions (EZNA total RNA Kit I, VWR) and for the very low content material, RNeasy microkit (Qiagen) columns were used. For classic reverse transcription and generation of cDNA, Super Script III reverse transcriptase kit was employed (Invitrogen). Resulting cDNA was subsequently processed using the Bio-rad CFX-96 apparatus, using a protocol customized according to the instructions of the SsoFast<sup>TM</sup> EvaGreen<sup>®</sup> Supermix (Bio-Rad). Relative quantification was applied using *GAPDH* as reference gene. The list of primers used in this thesis is listed in table 2.

#### Table 2. Human and viral RT-qPCR primers utilised throughout this thesis. Relevant paper

Gene name	Abbreviation	Direction	Sequence	Paper	
En antilad 1	ENI	Forward (F)	GTGTCTGCCCACCTCTTCTC	п	
Engrailed I	EINI	Reverse (R)	GCAGTCTGTGGGGTCGTATT	11	
Earth and have more the A2	FOXAD	F	CCGTTCTCCATCAACAACCT	п	
Forkhead box protein A2	FOXA2	R	GGGGTAGTGCATCACCTGTT		
Glyceraldehyde-3- phosphate dehydrogenase	GAPDH	F	GAAATCCCATCACCATCTTCCAGG	п	
		R	GAGCCCCAGCCTTCTCCATG		
Homeobox protein Hox- B4	HOXB4	F	ACACCCGCTAACAAATGAGG	П	
		R	GCACGAAAGATGAGGGAGAG		
LIM homeobox transcription factor 1, alpha	LMX1A	F	AGAGCTCGCCTACCAGGTC		
		R	GAAGGAGGCCGAGGTGTC	11	
	OTX2	F	GAAGCTCCATATCCCTGGGTGGAAAG		
Homeobox protein OTX2		R	CCATGACCTATACTCAGGCTTCAGG	- 11	
	D.U.V.	F	GGCAACCTACGCAAGATGGC		
Paired box protein Pax-6	PAX6	R	TGAGGGCTGTGTCTGTTCGG	II	
Myc avian		F	AGCAGAGGAGCAAAAGCTCATT	III &	
myelocytomatosis viral oncogene homolog	cMYC	R	CCAAAGTCCAATTTGAGGCAGT	III & IV	
Glyceraldehyde-3-	GAPDH	F	GAAATCCCATCACCATCTTCCAGG		
phosphate dehydrogenase		R	GAGCCCCAGCCTTCTCCATG	- III	
Kruppel-factor 4	KLF4	F	GACCACCTCGCCTTACACAT	III &	
		R	GTTGGGAACTTGACCATGATTG	IV	
	МВР	F	TTAGCTGAATTCGCGTGTGG		
Myelin basic protein		R	GAGGAAGTGAATGAGCCGGTTA	- <sup>III</sup>	
NKX Homeobox 2	NKX2.2	F	TGCCTCTCCTTCTGAACCTTGG		
		R	GCGAAATCTGCCACCAGTTG	1	
	0.04	F	AGTGAGAGGCAACCTGGAGA	III & IV	
POU Class 5 homeobox 1	Oct-04	R	GTGAAGTGAGGGCTCCCATA		
Oligodendrocyte	01100	F	GGAGCGAGCTCCTCAAATC		
transcription factor 2	OLIG2	R	CACTGCCTCCTAGCTTGTCC	111	
Platelet-derived Growth	PDCFDA	F	TCTGCTGGACTGAGAAGTTTCATC		
factor receptor, alpha	PDGFRA	R	CTATCCACACTGTCAAACAGGTTG		
Alaha amu dain	SNCA	F	CAACAGTGGCTGAGAAGACCA	III	
Alpha-synuclein		R	GCTCCTTCTTCATTCTTGCCCA		
SRY (sex determining region Y)-box 2	SOX2	F	ACACTGCCCCTCTCACACAT	III &	
		R	GGGTTTTCTCCATGCTGTTTCT	IV	
Virus specific	rv-pMX	R	TATCGTCGACCACTGTGCTG		
Virus specific	rv-KLF4	F	CCGCTCCATTACCAAGAGCT	IV	
Virus specific	rv-SOX2	F	GCCCTGCAGTACAACTCCAT		
Virus specific	rv-cMYC	F	CCACTGGTCCTCAAGAGGTG		
Virus specific	rv-pMX #2	R	CCCTTTTTCTGGAGACTAAATAAA		
Virus specific	rv-OCT4	F	CCCCAGGGCCCCATTTTGGTACC		

#### *Immunochemistry*

Immunocytochemistry of cell cultures was performed after a 30-minute fixation period with 4% PFA. Immunohistochemistry was performed after an o.n. fixation of tissue perfused with 4% PFA and stored in 30% sucrose solution before sectioning. Brain tissue was sectioned using a microtome, while small pieces of intestine and vagus nerve were sucrose-embedded before being sectioned using a cryostat. Samples were blocked for 1 hour in blocking buffer containing 10% donkey serum in PBS supplemented with 0.1% for cell cultures or 0.2% for tissues, of Triton-X100. Antigens were then probed by incubation with primary antibodies diluted in the blocking solution, o.n. at 4°C. The next day, samples were washed three times for 10 min. with PBS, then incubated for 1 hour with secondary antibodies diluted in PBS, at RT, then washed and incubated with DAPI to stain nuclei. The antibodies used in this thesis are listed in Table 3.

Tissue sections were, in general, stained free-floating on a shaking table. Vagal nerve sections were stained after mounting on glass slides. Some sections were not fixed and immediately mounted on slides to evaluate the natural signal of fluorescently labelled proteins.

#### SDS and Native PAGE Western blotting

Protein concentrations were measured using Bradford Bio-Rad protein assay kit according to the manufacturer's recommendations (Bio-Rad, USA). The absorbance measurement was performed following manufacturer's protocol on a 96-well plate reader (Biochrome Asys Expert 96 micro plate reader, Cambridge, UK). Proteins were loaded and separated over 4-20% Mini-Protean TGX Precast Gels (Bio-Rad, USA), then transferred to nitrocellulose membranes using Trans-Blot Turbo System (Bio-Rad). After blocking in 5% skim milk, membranes were incubated o.n. with primary antibodies at 4°C followed by incubation with peroxidase secondary antibodies (Vector Labs). Blots were developed using Clarity Western ECL Substrate (Bio-Rad) and the protein levels were normalized to  $\alpha$ -tubulin. Membranes were then blocked with 5% skim milk diluted in PBS-Tween 20.

For native PAGE, samples were homogenized in the presence of protease inhibitors using a Fast- Prep-24 homogenizer (MP Biomedicals, Santa Ana, CA, USA) in lysis buffer (20 mM Tris/HCl pH 7.4, 100 mM NaCl, 0.4 % (w/v) sodium dodecyl sulfate and 0.2 % (v/v) Triton X-100). Samples were then mixed with Native PAGE loading buffer and separated over 8-16 % polyacrylamide gels before being transferred to nitrocellulose membranes.

#### Table 3

Alphabetical list of antibodies used throughout this thesis. Relevant paper is indicated in the far right column.

Antibody	Isotype	Company	Catalouge number	Dilution	Paper
α-synuclein	mouse	Santa Cruz	SC-12767	1:200-1:1000	I & III
α-synuclein	mouse	Invitrogen	18-0215	1:700	Ι
α-synuclein-1 (WB)	mouse	BD Bioscience	610786	1:1000	I
choline acetyltransferase	Goat	Millipore	AB144P	1:500	Ι
CD44	Mouse	BD Bioscience	555478	1:30	П
CX43	Rabbit	Sigma-Aldrich	C6219	1:500	II
FOXA2	Goat	Santa Cruz	SC-6554	1:100-1:250	II & IV
GFAP	Rabbit	Dako	Z033401-2	1:5000	II & IV
GFAP	Mouse	Sigma-Aldrich	G3893	1:100	П
GLAST/EAAT1	Sheep	R&D	AF6048	1:200	П
Glutamine synthetase	Mouse	Millipore	MAB302	1:1000	II
HOXB4	Rat	DSHB	I12 anti-hoxb4	1:80	П
LMX1A	Rabbit	DSHB	50.5 5A5	1:500	П
NF1A	Rabbit	Active motif	39036	1:100	П
OTX2	Goat	R&D	AF1979	1:500	II
\$100β	Mouse	Sigma-Aldrich	S2532	1:500	П
tagRFP	Rabbit	Evrogen	AB234	1:5000	II
AFP	Mouse	Sigma-Aldrich	A8452	1:200-1:500	III & IV
α-synuclein	Rabbit	Santa Cruz	SC-7011-R	1:200	III
α-synuclein	Mouse	BD Bioscience	610787	1:200	III
α-synuclein (WB)	Rabbit	Cell Signaling	2642	1:500-1:1000	III
β-III-Tubulin / TUJ1	Rabbit	Covance	PRB-435P	1:200	III & IV
CNPase	Mouse	Sigma-Aldrich	C5922	1:200	III
GAL-C	Mouse	Millipore	MAB342	1:200	III
GAL-3	Rat	Gift from H. Leffler to T. Deierborg		1:300	III
Ki67	Rat	eBIOSCIENCE	14-5698	1:50	III
MBP	Chicken	Millipore	AB9348	1:100	III
NG2	Mouse	BD Bioscience	554275	1:200	III
NKX2.2	Mouse	DSHB	74.5A5	1:50	III
4	Mouse	Gift from J. Goldman	l	1:50	III
Oct-04	Mouse	Millipore	MAB4401	1:200	III
OLIG2	Rabbit	Millipore	AB9610	1:200	III
PDGFRA	Rabbit	Santa Cruz	SC-338	1:200	III
PDGFRA	Rat	eBIOSCIENCE	12604-013	1:100	III
SSEA-4	Mouse	Life technologies	A14766	1:200	III
SOX2	Goat	Santa Cruz	SC-17320	1:200	III
SOX10	Goat	R&D	AF2864	1:200	III
IBA-1	Rabbit	Wako	019-19741	1:500	III
RIP	Rabbit	Millipore	MAB1580	1:200	III
LMX1A	Rabbit	Abcam	AB139726	1:200	IV
SMA	Mouse	Sigma-Aldrich	A2547	1:500	IV
TH	Mouse	Millipore	MAB318	1:2000	IV

#### Cell culture

Cell culture was carried out in a P2 level room. Cultures were grown in specific media, in an incubator set at  $37^{\circ}$ C with a CO<sub>2</sub> level of 5%. The media composition differed depending on whether the cells were of mouse or human origins, and their cellular identity. The composition of the media used to grow and differentiate the cells is listed below, in table 4.

MEF - Mouse embryonic feeder medium	Final concentration	500ml	Company
DMEM		475 ml	Thermofisher
FBS (heat in-activated)	10%	5 ml	Thermofisher
WiCell - Wisconsin cellular medium	Final concentration	500ml	Company
DMEM / F12		475 ml	Thermofisher
L-Glutamine	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
NEAA	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
β-mercapto ethanol	50 µM	1:1000	Thermofisher
NIM - Neural induction medium	Final concentration	500ml	Company
Adv. DMEM / F12	50%	237 ml	Thermofisher
Neurobasal	50%	237 ml	Thermofisher
L-Glutamine	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
B27 w.o Vitamin A	2%	10 ml	Thermofisher
N2	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
P/S	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
NDM - Neural differentiation medium	Final concentration	500ml	Company
Neurobasal		475 ml	Thermofisher
L-Glutamine	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
B27 w.o Vitamin A	2%	10 ml	Thermofisher
N2	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
P/S	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
Heparin 2 mg/ml	2 μg/ml	500 µl	Sigma-Aldrich
GIM - Glial induction medium	Final concentration	500ml	Company
Adv. DMEM / F12		475 ml	Thermofisher
L-Glutamine	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
NEAA	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
P/S	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
B27 w.o Vitamin A	2%	10 ml	Thermofisher
Heparin 2 mg/ml	2 μg/ml	500 µl	Sigma-Aldrich
N2 medium	Final concentration	500ml	Company
Adv. DMEM / F12		475 ml	Thermofisher
N2	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
L-Glutamine (200mM)	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
Sodium pyruvate	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher
P/S	1%	5 ml	Thermofisher

#### Table 4. Composition of cell culture media used throughout this thesis

# Key Methods used in Paper I

## Preparation of $\alpha$ -synuclein species for injection into the guts of rat

#### Brain lysate from a PD patient

A lysate containing aggregated as well as mono- and oligo-meric forms of  $\alpha$ -synuclein was prepared FROM the freshly frozen substantia nigra tissue of a patient diagnosed with PD. The tissue was mechanically homogenized in sterile PBS at 4 °C, vortexed, sonicated and centrifuged. The supernatant was aliquoted and samples kept frozen at -80 °C. Before injection, each sample of supernatant lysate was further diluted in PBS.

#### Expression and purification of recombinant $\alpha$ -synuclein

The expression and purification of human wild type  $\alpha$ -synuclein was performed as reported by Ghee and colleagues (Ghee et al., 2005). Briefly, bacteria (Escherichia coli strain BL21 ;DE3) were transformed with an expression vector pET3a encoding wild type  $\alpha$ -synuclein, and grown in LB medium to an optical density of 0.8 arbitrary units. The bacteria were then lysed by sonication and lysates clarified by centrifugation.  $\alpha$ -Synuclein was precipitated by addition of ammonium sulfate and collected by centrifugation. The resulting pellet was resuspended and loaded onto a diethylaminoethyl (DEAE) column, before being eluted by a gradient of 0–500 mM NaCl. After clarification through a Superdex 75 HiLoad 26/60 column (GE healthcare), pure  $\alpha$ -synuclein was filtered through sterile 0.22-µm filters and stored at -80 °C.  $\alpha$ -Synuclein concentration was determined using spectrophotometry, using an extinction coefficient of 5,960 M<sup>-1</sup> cm<sup>-1</sup> at 280 nm.

#### Assembly of monomeric $\alpha$ -synuclein into oligomers and fibrils

For oligomer formation,  $\alpha$ -synuclein (200  $\mu$ M) was incubated in buffer A (50 mM Tris–HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM KCl) at 4 °C, without shaking, for 7 days. Oligomeric  $\alpha$ -synuclein was separated from the monomeric form of the protein by size-exclusion chromatography (Superose 6 HR10/300, GE Healthcare). For fibril formation,  $\alpha$ -synuclein was incubated in buffer A at 37 °C under continuous shaking in an Eppendorf Thermomixer set at 600 r.p.m. Assembly was monitored continuously in a Cary Eclipse spectrofluorimeter (Varian Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA) in the presence of Thioflavin T with an excitation wavelength set at 440 nm and an emission wavelength set at 480 nm with an averaging time of 1 second.

#### Fluorescent labelling of monomeric, oligomeric and fibrillar -synuclein assemblies and BSA

Monomeric and oligomeric  $\alpha$ -synuclein assemblies in buffer A were buffer exchanged using NAP10 desalting columns (GE Healthcare) to phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) buffer.  $\alpha$ -Synuclein labelling was performed with Atto-550 NHS ester fluorophore following the manufacturer's instructions (Atto-Tec Gmbh) using a protein:label molar ratio of 1:2 as such two Atto molecules per  $\alpha$ -synuclein monomer, whether monomeric, oligomeric or fibrillar form. Unreacted fluorophore was removed using NAP10 desalting columns. For fibrillar  $\alpha$ -synuclein labelling, fibrils were centrifuged twice, resuspended in PBS and labelled as described above. Unreacted fluorophore was removed by a final cycle of two centrifugations and resuspension of pelleted fibrils in PBS. Lyophilized bovine serum albumin (BSA) was dissolved in PBS and labelled with ATTO-550 dye using a protein:dye ratio of 1:2 following the same procedure as described for monomeric  $\alpha$ -synuclein.

Animals, injection of human  $\alpha$ -synuclein and surgery

In the study of  $\alpha$ -synuclein propagation, we used adult wild type Sprague Dawley rats (~250 g; purchased from Charles River Laboratories). The animals were kept with food and water *ad libitum* under a 12-h light/12-h dark cycle before surgery. Directly before surgery, animals were anesthetized using isoflurane (2-4 %) and their body temperature was kept constant using a heat pad. Injections of  $\alpha$ -synuclein samples into the gut were made by inserting Hamilton syringes into the intestine wall at the location of the myenteric plexus of the stomach and duodenum. Animals (n=3 per group; 4 groups) were injected with 3  $\mu$ l at 5 sites, for each different forms of  $\alpha$ synuclein: PD brain lysate (2 µg/µl of total protein content), monomer (1 µg/µl), oligomer (1 µg/µl) or fibril (1 µg/µl). Control animals (n=3) were injected with BSA diluted in PBS to a final concentration of 1 µg/µl. Great care was taken to avoid injections into the intestinal lumen. Following injections, animals were sutured and returned to normal housing conditions. At 12-h, 24-h, 3-days or 6 days animals were killed. The animals were anesthetized with an overdose of sodium pentobarbital and transcardially perfused with a physiological saline solution followed by an ice-cold 4% PFA solution. Brains, intestines and thoracic vagal nerves were dissected out and stored o.n. in 4% PFA before transferring to 30% sucrose solution. Transverse serial sections of the medulla oblongata, 30 um thick, were cut using a microtome (Leica, SM 2010R). Vagal nerves were divided into proximal (0-15 mm), medial (25-40 mm) and distal (50-65 mm) segments (in relation to the skull). Transverse and longitudinal sections of 14 µm were generated using a cryostat (Leica, CM 3050S). Some sections were immediately mounted and cover-slipped for the detection of the injected proteins fluorescent tags.

#### Fluorescent recovery after photobleaching, FRAP

FRAP was performed using a Zeiss LSM 510 confocal microscope system running 2009 Zen software with 63Å-/1.4 Oil DIC Plan-apochromat objective and solid state 488-nm argon laser for excitation and bleaching of fluorophores. Constant temperature at 35–37 °C, humidity and 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere was maintained using a heated stage and chamber system (CTI Controller 3700 digital, temp controller 37-2). FRAP was performed based on conventional FRAP procedure with minor modifications (Figure 14)(Axelrod et al., 1976; Snapp et al., 2003). Before each imaging session, media were replaced with imaging buffer composed of HBSS supplemented with 5 mM glucose, 1.8 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> and 20 mM HEPES, pH 7.4. Data was collected from 256 x 256 pixels. Pre- and post-bleaching images were collected using 0.8% laser power at a rate of 5 Hz with pinhole set to maximum, to avoid additional photobleaching and phototoxicity. Each experiment started with the collection of 4 baseline images. Bleaching was then performed with 100 % laser power for 5 iterations on part of neurites located 100-200 µm away from the cell body. Following photobleach, fluorescence intensities were recorded for 44 s in bleached, cell body reference and background regions. For each group; expressing  $\alpha$ -synuclein-BiFC-Venus (n = 4),  $\alpha$ -synuclein-Venus (n = 5), Actin-GFP (n = 6) and Venus alone (n = 5), three cells were imaged. Values averaged from the three cells in each experiment constitute one n. To investigate whether mobility was dependent on microtubule dynamics, separate experiments were performed in which cells were treated with 10 nM of vinblastine, a microtubule destabiliser for one hour before imaging,  $\alpha$ -synuclein-BiFC-Venus (n = 2),  $\alpha$ -synuclein- Venus (n = 3), Actin-GFP (n = 5) and Venus alone (n = 5).



#### Figure 14.

a) Schematic depicting how the FRAP experiment was performed. Panels to the right show representative images of neurites before, during and after fluorescent recovery. b) Graphical representation of parameters considered for analysis.

#### Model fitting/FRAP data analysis

Raw intensity signals were, for each time point, normalized by subtracting the average background intensity and correcting for acquisition bleaching by adjusting to loss of fluorescence within the non-bleached reference region (Phair et al., 2004). Normalized data from each cell were then individually fitted to appropriate models. The type of model used for each protein was chosen to describe the bleach corrected and normalised intensity data. For this, data from cells in  $\alpha$ -synuclein-BiFCVenus,  $\alpha$ synuclein-Venus and Actin-GFP groups were fitted to an exponential chemicalinteraction model as described by Eq. (1) (Phair et al., 2004) as  $\alpha$ -synuclein and actin are known to interact with other proteins. In contrast, vinblastine-treated cells, and those expressing Venus alone, were fitted to the empirical diffusion model described by Ellenberg's Eq. (2) (Ellenberg et al., 1997). From this, the mobile fraction was deduced with correction for gap ratio, Eq. (3). Fittings of FRAP curves that deviated significantly from normalized raw data were excluded from further analysis. All curve fittings and normalisations were performed in Igor Pro v6.32A using the plugin K FRAPcalc v9 [developed by the European Advanced Light Microscopy Network (EAMNET)—EMBL—Germany http://www. embl.de/eamnet/]. (1)Single exponential model according to Phair single exponential, double normalization (2) For calculation of mobile fraction with correction for gap ratio (3) Ellenberg's I final will be considered as the mobile fraction.

$$I(t) = y_0 + Ae^{-\tau_1 t}$$
 (1)

(1) Single exponential model according to Phair single exponential, double normalization

$$I(t) = I_{final} \left( 1 - \left( \frac{w^2}{w^2 + 4\pi Dt} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right)$$
(3)

(2) Ellenberg – I final will be considered the mobile fraction.

$$Mob = \frac{\left(\frac{-A}{1 - (y_0 + A)}\right)}{Gap \ ratio} \quad (2)$$

(3) For calculation of mobile fraction with correction for gap ratio

# Key Methods used in Paper II

## Generation and characterisation of iPSC lines

#### Culture of primary human fibroblasts

Cells were cultured and expanded in conventional fibroblast growth medium composed of DMEM and 10% fetal bovine serum before cryo-banking. All lines tested negative for mycoplasma

#### Derivation of induced pluripotent stem cell lines from human fibroblasts

Proliferating fibroblasts were expanded in conventional media and expanded prior to cryo-banking. Only low passage fibroblasts (<8 passages) were used in the generation of iPSC lines. Fibroblasts were seeded in plates one day before transduction with the reprogramming viruses. The iPSC lines were generated using two different strategies for delivery of the Yamanaka reprogramming factors. CSC lines 1 to 9 were generated by retroviral delivery, as described by (Boulting et al., 2011), Fibroblasts were transduced twice (day 0 and day 1) with retroviruses (multiplicity of infection 10) prepared from the plasmids pMXs-hKLF4, pMXs-hOCT3/4 and pMXs-hSOX2 (Addgene). iPSC lines CSC-1A, CSC-2B, 2C, CSC-6A, CSC-8A, CSC-8B, CSC-8C, CSC-8F, CSC-8S, CSC-9A and CSC-9B were generated using an additional fourth retrovirus prepared from the pMXs-hc-MYC plasmid (Addgene). In the second approach, CSC lines 10 to 22 were generated by delivering the four Yamanaka factors using Sendai viruses. Here CytoTune<sup>™</sup>-iPS 1.0 (for lines CSC-21B, CSC-21C and CSC- 22A) and 2.0 kits (Thermofisher scientific) were used according to manufacturer's instructions, with minor modifications such as scaling of the culture format. Following transduction media were changed daily to fresh fibroblast growth media until day 6, when cells were re-seeded on irradiated mouse embryonic fibroblasts (CF-1 MEF, GlobalStem) in WiCell media composed of advanced DMEM/F12, 10% Knock-Out Serum Replacement (v/v), 2 mM L-glutamine, 1% non-essential amino acids (NEAA, v/v), 50 µM β-mercaptoethanol and 20 ng/ml fibroblasts fgrowth factor (FGF2). After 2-4 week, once colonies appeared, they were picked individually, each colony clone was individually and expanded and bio-banked before testing of pluripotency.

#### Expression of Stem cell pluripotency genes

Each clonal iPSC line was evaluated for expression of stem cell pluripotencyassociated antigens by probing cultures using antibodies, anti-OCT3/4, anti-SSEA4, anti-NANOG and anti-TRA1-81. The staining procedure is described in detail under general methods.

#### Alkaline Phosphatase activity

Alkaline Phosphatase activity test was performed using the 86R-1KT (Sigma Aldrich), according to the manufacturer recommendations.

## Cytogenic analysis - Karyotyping

The G-banding analysis for all lines was performed in a clinical diagnostic setting. 15-25 metaphases were analysed according to the ISCN 2013 12 by at the department of genetics, at the hospital of Lund, Sweden (Medicinsk service / Labmedicin, Klinisk genetik och biobank).

#### Down-regulation of viral transgenes and loss of viral agents

Levels of reprogramming factor mRNA in human iPSC lines generated with retroviruses were quantified by RT-qPCR at approximately passage 13. Levels were compared with those of non-transduced fibroblasts and a human embryonic stem cell line (H13). Relative quantification was applied using GAPDH as reference. The iPSC lines generated by Sendai viral delivery of reprogramming factors were evaluated for remaining virus using the anti-Sendai antibody.

#### Finger print analysis

Fingerprinting analysis was outsourced to IdentiCell STR profiling service, department of molecular medicine, Aarhus university hospital Skejby, Denmark.

## Spontaneous differentiation of iPSC into the three germ layers

Human iPSC were grown for two weeks as embryonic bodies (EB) in low-attachment multi-well plates in WiCell supplemented with 20 ng/ml FGF2. EBs were then reseeded in 96-well plates (Greiner Bio-One) coated with 0.1% gelatin in DMEM medium containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1% P/S for subsequent spontaneous differentiation over two weeks. Media were changed every 2-3 days.

#### Telomerase activity TRAP assay

To further validate the "stemness" of generated iPSC lines a telomeric repeat amplification protocol (TRAP) was employed. For this purpose a telomerase activity assay TRAPeze (S7700, Millipore) was used. Briefly, total protein was extracted from each of the generated iPSC clones as well as from corresponding parental fibroblast lines. Active telomerase in the samples were allowed to add a number of telomeric repeats (GGTTAG) onto the substrate oligonucleotide by incubation for 30 minutes at 30°C before amplification of the extended products by PCR. The resulting ladder of products was visualized by separation through PAGE run over a 12% gel at 72V for 3 hours. The ladder of products with six base increments started at 50 nucleotides and each sample contain a 36 base pairs (bp) internal standard.

## Generation of relevant cell types

## Generation of human neural precursor cells

Generation of regionally specified human midbrain NPCs was performed as described in Paper IV

## Generation of TH expressing human neurons

To generate TH-expressing neurons, floor-plate NPCs where cultures were dissociated on D12 and plated at high density on plates coated with 20  $\mu$ g/ml Polyornithinin (PO) and 50  $\mu$ g/ml Laminin (lam). Neuronal differentiation medium (NDM) was composed of Neurobasal, 2% B27 minus vitamin A, 2mM L-glutamine and 1% P/S and was added every 2-3 days. NDM was supplemented with 20 ng/ml brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), 10 ng/ml GDNF, 5 ng/ml cerebral derived neurotrophic factor (CDNF), 200  $\mu$ M ascorbic acid (AA), 500  $\mu$ M db-cAMP to induce differentiation into TH-positive cells. The cells were matured for two weeks, and fixed on day 30 for immunocytochemistry.

#### Generation of human oligodendrocytes

Generation of human oligodendrocytes was performed as described for Paper III.

#### Generation of human astrocytes

Generation of human astrocytes from regionally specified NPCs was performed as described for Paper IV.

# Key Methods used in Paper III

#### Cell culture

#### Primary mouse cultures

Primary forebrain cultures used for investigating oligodendrocytes protein expression were prepared from 1-3 day old wild-type mice pups. Primary cells were cultured in conventional medium for three weeks, before FACS and ICC analysis.

#### Generation of rodent and human oligodendrocytes.

Mouse ESC-derived oligodendrocytes were generated accordingly as described by Czepiel and colleagues (Czepiel et al., 2011). To generate embryonic bodies, ESC aggregates were cultured free-floating in EB medium for 8 days. This medium was composed of Knock-out DMEM, 15% FBS, 1% NEAA, 2-mM L-Glutamine, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin and 100 µM 2-mercaptoethanol.

Induction of mNPCs, the 8-day-old EBs were cultured in N2 medium for 7-8 days. The N2 medium was supplemented with 20 ng/ml FGF2, and 20 ng/ml epidermal growth factor (EGF). To induce oligodendrocyte differentiation, mNPC EBs were plated onto PDL/Lam coated wells in N2 medium supplemented with 10 ng/ml PDGF for another 4 days, the first two days this medium also contained 20 ng/ml FGF2 and 20 ng/ml EGF. To enhance the maturation of oligodendrocytes, 30 ng/ml T3 and 10 ng/ml NT-3 were added during the final phase of differentiation (6 days).

To induce oligodendrocyte differentiation using human iPSC, cultures were grown as EBs in WiCell medium with 20 ng/ml FGF2 and 1  $\mu$ M Y27632. Two to four days later, the medium was switched to neural induction medium containing 200 nM LDN-193189 and 10  $\mu$ M SB-431542 for 4 days. Neuralized EBs were then also exposed to ventralizing agents by adding 100ng/ml SHH-C II and SAG (1  $\mu$ M, Millipore) in addition to the LDN and SB, for 4 days. EBs were then treated with SAG only. A final glialisation step was then applied using a DMEM/F12-based medium, as previously published (Hu et al., 2009). This medium was supplemented with 10ng/ml each of PDGF-AA, IGF1, NT3 and 60 ng/ml T3, and 5ng/ml HGF to enhance the oligodendrocyte maturation process (Douvaras et al., 2014). EBs were subsequently seeded on PLO/ lam-coated 96 well plates for the remainder of the differentiation.

#### Extraction of cell nuclei from adult human brain

Tissue from human postmortem brains of healthy or diseased individuals were homogenized and centrifuged as described by Spalding and colleagues (Spalding et al., 2005) to separate out the nuclei fraction. Tissue samples were homogenised and centrifuged to yield a nuclear fraction. SOX10+ oligodendrocyte lineage nuclei were then isolated by FACS using a BD InfluxTM cell sorter (BD Bioscience). The purity of the isolated fraction was assessed by reanalysis. Isolated nuclei fractions were collected and further processed for RT-qPCR analysis.

# Key Methods used in Paper IV

Generation of astrocyte reporter lines



Figure 17.

a) a) Schematic representation of the construct generated and used to generate astrocyte pluripotent stem cell reporter lines. b) Strategy employed for generating astrocyte reporter lines from human embryonic stem cells. Nucleofection of reporter construct into PSCs followed by selection for resistant clones using geneticin. After expansion of the clones pre-screening was preformed for selection of clones co-expressing GFAP and GFAABCID::TagRFP.

#### Design and cloning of the GFA<sub>ABC1D</sub>::tagRFP construct

The pBluescript-GFA<sub>ABC1D</sub> was a gift from Prof. Michael Brenner (University of Alabama-Birmingham, USA). This construct encodes a 681 bp fragment of the human GFAP promoter resulting in selective expression in murine astrocytes throughout the CNS (Y. Lee et al., 2008). The *PGK::Neo-Hb9::GFP* plasmid was a

gift from Prof. Hynek Wichterle (Columbia University of New York, USA), and was previously used to generate a hESC line reporting on motor neurons (Di Giorgio et al., 2008). The GFA<sub>ABC1D</sub> promoter fragment was inserted in place of the Hb9 promoter using Sal1 and Asc1 restriction sites. Then, the tagRFP was inserted in place of the GFP using Asc1 and NheI restriction sites. The *PGK::Neo-GFA<sub>ABC1D</sub>::tagRFP* construct was checked by restriction and sequencing.

#### Creation of transgenic human ES and iPS cell reporter lines

Nucleofection, selection and pre-screening were performed as described by Placantonakis et al., (Figure 17) (Placantonakis et al., 2009); briefly, colonies of each single cell line (H13 and NAS2) were dissociated into single cell cultures, concentrated and electroporated (AMAXA, B-016 program) with the linearized vector (linearized using Not1 single restriction site). Nucleofected cells were seeded and grown on a monolayer of irradiated CF6NeoR MEFs in WiCell medium supplemented with 20  $\mu$ M Y-27632 and 20 ng/ml FGF2. Once colonies were formed, selection was applied by adding increasing concentrations of antibiotic G418 to the medium. Every 3 days, G418 concentrations were increased two-fold, to a final concentration of 400  $\mu$ g/ml. Resistant colonies were picked and expanded separately for storage and pre-screening. Here, cultures were considered positive once RFP expression was observed. Pre-screening was carried out using the midbrain differentiation protocol described below.

## Cell culture

#### Maintenance of Stem cell cultures (mouse ESC, human ESC, human iPSC)

Human embryonic stem cell line H13 was obtained from the Harvard Stem Cell Institute; the human iPSC line NAS2 had been previously generated and characterization by Devine and colleagues (Devine et al., 2011). Human ESCs and iPSCs were routinely expanded at 37 °C under 5% CO<sub>2</sub> on irradiated CF1 MEFs (GlobalStem), in WiCell media supplemented with 20 ng/ml FGF2. Culturing media was generally changed every other day, and colonies were regularly passaged using dispase. Upon thaw from cryo-bank, 20  $\mu$ M of the Rho-Kinase inhibitor (Y-27632) was added to the media, in order to increase cell recovery.

#### Generation of regionally specified neural progenies

One day before the start of differentiation, human ESC and iPSC colonies were harvested and seeded in low adherence flasks in Wicell medium supplemented with FGF2 and Y-27632. One to two days later when embryoid bodies had formed, patterning toward regionalized neural progenitors was initiated (day 0, D0). For patterning into midbrain (floor-plate) identity, neural induction media (NIM) was
applied. NIM was composed of advanced DMEM/ F12:Neurobasal (1:1) supplemented with 2% (v/v) B27 minus vitamin A, 2 mM L-glutamine, 1% nonessential amino acids (NEAA) and penicillin/streptomycin (P/S) (all from Life Technologies). Midbrain identity was directed using a protocol modified from Kriks et al (Kriks et al., 2011) and Kirkeby et al (Kirkeby et al., 2012a), by supplementing NIM with 0.1 µM LDN-193189 (D0-8; Stemgent), 10 µM SB-431542 (D0-6; Sigma- Aldrich), 200 ng/ml SHH-C25II N-terminus (D0-12; Life Technologies), 0.8 µM CHIR-99021 (D0-12; Stemgent) and 1 µM of smoothened agonist (SAG; D2-12; Millipore). Media was replaced every other day. Patterning toward spinal cord lineage fate was directed using protocols modified from Amoroso et al and Lamas et al., (Amoroso et al., 2013; Lamas et al., 2014) and was started in WiCell media (D0 to D4) with a gradual shift (D4-6) to glial induction media (GIM) composed of advanced DMEM/F12 with 2% (v/v) B27 plus vitamin A, 2 mM L-glutamine, 1% (v/v) NEAA and P/S. Media were supplemented with 0.1 µM LDN-193189 (D0-D6) and 10 µM SB-431542 (D0-6), 1 µM of retinoic acid (RA; D2-D12, Sigma-Aldrich), 200 ng/ml SHH-C25II N-terminus (D6-D12), 10 ng/ml BDNF (D6-D12, Life Technologies), 0.4 µg/ml ascorbic acid (D6-D12, Sigma-Aldrich). For both midbrain and spinal patterning, medium was changed every other day. Some NPC cultures were fixed for immunocytochemistry on day 12 of differentiation

#### Generation of midbrain and spinal cord astrocytes.

To generate astrocytes, EBs containing regionalised NPCs were expanded for 1 month as free-floating cultures in GIM. This expansion media was supplemented with 20 ng/ml FGF2 and 100ng/ml EGF (Nelson et al., 2008), and changed biweekly. After one month, glial progenitor cells (GPCs) were seeded at high density in flasks coated with PO and Lam. Plated cells were passaged weekly and grown in GIM supplemented with 1% FBS allowing spontaneous maturation of GPCs into astrocytes. On day 70, astrocyte cultures were fixed and immunocytochemistry was performed for GFAP. For longterm characterisation, reporter line astrocytes were FACS sorted on day 90 and subsequently cultured until D130

### Enrichment of astrocyte populations

#### Flow cytometry analysis and enrichment of astrocyte populations by FACS

Flow cytometry analysis was performed on days 70, 90, 110 and 130 to assess the number of reporter positive cells. For longterm characterisation of astrocytes, populations were FACS sorted on day 70, the purified astrocyte cultures were then kept until day 130. For enrichment and flow cytometry and FACS, cells were dissociated and resuspended in FACS buffer supplemented with FBS. Samples were analysed and sorted using a BD FACSAria III (BD Biosciences) with FACSDiva v8.0

software (BD Biosciences). The cytometer was set up using a 100 µm nozzle at standard pressure of 20 psi and a frequency of 30.0 kHz and was calibrated daily using BD FACSDiva Cytometer Setup and Tracking (CS&T) software and CS&T Research Beads (BD Biosciences). For sorting, drop delay was optimised with Accudrop beads (BD Biosciences) in "fine tune" sort mode. 7-Aminoactinomycin D (7AAD) was excited by the blue laser (488 nm/20 mW) and emission was detected through a 695/40 bandpass (BP) filter. RFP was excited by the yellow/ green laser (561 nm/50 mW); emission at 610/20 BP. PMT were set using unstained and fully stained cells and emission was detected as the area of fluorescence intensity. In short, gating strategy was separating out 1) single cells based on FSC-W/FSC-A and SSC-W/SSC-A 2) live and dead cells based on uptake of 7AAD and 3) RFP positive cells compared to non-reporter expressing astrocytes. Compensation was set up using single-positive cells. Each analysis was based on 10,000 to 20,000 events. Samples were sorted at 4°C directly into GIM medium supplemented with 1% (v/v) FBS. Reanalysis of test-samples was performed to ensure sort purity (>97%) and viability (>95%) of non-enriched populations. Sorted cells were then seeded onto PO / lam coated plates.

### Functional assays

#### Detection of cytokine- and chemokine-release by dot-blot protein array and ELISA

FACS-purified astrocytes were seeded in GIM medium containing 1% FBS (v/v) and kept in a incubator at 37 degrees. Two days later cultures were treated with either 1% FBS or 10 ng/ml IL-1 $\beta$  (R&D). After 7 days, the media was harvested for subsequent analysis by protein array or enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). For IL-6 ELISA, samples were diluted 1:10 before performing the assay according to manufacturer's guidelines (KHC0061, Life Technologies). Lastly, absorbance was measured by spectrophotometry at 450 nm. The human cytokine array panel A (ARY005, R&D Systems) was performed strictly according to manufacturer's guidelines. Here, intensities were measured using the ChemiDoc software (Bio-Rad) and then normalized to the mean intensities of reference spots

#### Preparation of human $\alpha$ -synuclein species and assay for Astrocytic protein uptake.

Recombinant human  $\alpha$ -synuclein (S10012, rPeptide) was labelled with Atto-488 NHS ester fluorophore following manufacturer's instructions (#38371, Sigma). For fibril formation, unlabelled human aSYN and atto-488 labelled aSYN (50uM, 5:1 ratio) were incubated in buffer (165 µl 50 mM Tris, 250 mM NaCl, pH 7.5) for 7 days at 37 °C (in the dark). The solution was continuously shaken (300 rpm) for 3 days, left overnight without shaking and then shaken for 4 additional days. Preparations were evaluated by electron microscopy to confirm fibrillation. Before

treatment of astrocytes, fibrils were sonicated twice 30 s at 40% amplitude (QSonica, 125A-220). Astrocyte cultures were then incubated with 0.7  $\mu$ M of either monomers or fibrils for either 3 or 7 days.

# Acknowledgements

First of all I would like to thank the two people who have guided, chased and advised my during these last 5 or so years. Laurent, I recognize how hard you have worked for me these years and I am very grateful for this. You have been an absolute force of nature in your ambition, motivation and engagement and I hope some of this has rubbed off on me. Jia-Yi Li, thank you for supervising and mentoring me over these years, as time goes by, even if I am somewhere else, I know I continue to learn from you.

I would give a huge thank you to Mehdi. Lets not forget the science. To current members of the group especially, Carla and Margarita, your help these last weeks has been absolutely invaluable. Also you who have left, thank you Julie, Marinka, Manon. BMC A10 has been a special place, have seen one huge group split and seven new form and develop. People have left but somehow the sense of relaxed helpfulness just sticks. Thank you Wen, Andy, Christian, Ilknur, Patrik. and. Marcus.

Some extra special thank you:s goes out to my new and old friends and especially to my family. Without your help and support this would not have been possible.

Last but not least I would like to thank the mountains, the sea and those little animals that can survive anything, even space, whatever they are called. Oh and the sun for always being there and having its spots.

## References

- Abbott, N. J., Patabendige, A. A., Dolman, D. E., Yusof, S. R., & Begley, D. J. (2010). Structure and function of the blood-brain barrier. *Neurobiol Dis*, 37(1), 13-25. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2009.07.030
- Alim, M. A., Hossain, M. S., Arima, K., Takeda, K., Izumiyama, Y., Nakamura, M., Kaji, H., Shinoda, T., Hisanaga, S., & Ueda, K. (2002). Tubulin seeds alpha-synuclein fibril formation. *J Biol Chem*, 277(3), 2112-2117. doi:10.1074/jbc.M102981200
- Amoroso, M. W., Croft, G. F., Williams, D. J., O'Keeffe, S., Carrasco, M. A., Davis, A. R., Roybon, L., Oakley, D. H., Maniatis, T., Henderson, C. E., & Wichterle, H. (2013). Accelerated high-yield generation of limb-innervating motor neurons from human stem cells. *J Neurosci*, 33(2), 574-586. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0906-12.2013
- Arai, N., Papp, M. I., & Lantos, P. L. (1994). New observation on ubiquitinated neurons in the cerebral cortex of multiple system atrophy (MSA). *Neurosci Lett*, 182(2), 197-200.
- Arima, K., Murayama, S., Mukoyama, M., & Inose, T. (1992). Immunocytochemical and ultrastructural studies of neuronal and oligodendroglial cytoplasmic inclusions in multiple system atrophy. 1. Neuronal cytoplasmic inclusions. *Acta Neuropathol*, 83(5), 453-460.
- Asi, Y. T., Simpson, J. E., Heath, P. R., Wharton, S. B., Lees, A. J., Revesz, T., Houlden, H., & Holton, J. L. (2014). Alpha-synuclein mRNA expression in oligodendrocytes in MSA. *Glia*, 62(6), 964-970. doi:10.1002/glia.22653
- Avaliani, N., Sorensen, A. T., Ledri, M., Bengzon, J., Koch, P., Brustle, O., Deisseroth, K., Andersson, M., & Kokaia, M. (2014). Optogenetics reveal delayed afferent synaptogenesis on grafted human-induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural progenitors. *Stem Cells*, 32(12), 3088-3098. doi:10.1002/stem.1823
- Axelrod, D., Koppel, D. E., Schlessinger, J., Elson, E., & Webb, W. W. (1976). Mobility measurement by analysis of fluorescence photobleaching recovery kinetics. *Biophys J*, 16(9), 1055-1069. doi:10.1016/S0006-3495(76)85755-4
- Barbour, R., Kling, K., Anderson, J. P., Banducci, K., Cole, T., Diep, L., Fox, M., Goldstein, J. M., Soriano, F., Seubert, P., & Chilcote, T. J. (2008). Red blood cells are the major source of alpha-synuclein in blood. *Neurodegener Dis*, 5(2), 55-59. doi:10.1159/000112832
- Bartels, T., Choi, J. G., & Selkoe, D. J. (2011). alpha-Synuclein occurs physiologically as a helically folded tetramer that resists aggregation. *Nature*, 477(7362), 107-110. doi:10.1038/nature10324
- Benarroch, E. E. (2007). Brainstem respiratory control: substrates of respiratory failure of multiple system atrophy. *Mov Disord*, 22(2), 155-161. doi:10.1002/mds.21236

- Bendor, J. T., Logan, T. P., & Edwards, R. H. (2013). The function of alpha-synuclein. *Neuron*, 79(6), 1044-1066. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.004
- Bennett, M. C. (2005). The role of alpha-synuclein in neurodegenerative diseases. *Pharmacol Ther*, *105*(3), 311-331. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2004.10.010
- Boulting, G. L., Kiskinis, E., Croft, G. F., Amoroso, M. W., Oakley, D. H., Wainger, B. J.,
  Williams, D. J., Kahler, D. J., Yamaki, M., Davidow, L., Rodolfa, C. T., Dimos, J.
  T., Mikkilineni, S., MacDermott, A. B., Woolf, C. J., Henderson, C. E., Wichterle,
  H., & Eggan, K. (2011). A functionally characterized test set of human induced
  pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Biotechnol, 29*(3), 279-286. doi:10.1038/nbt.1783
- Bousset, L., Pieri, L., Ruiz-Arlandis, G., Gath, J., Jensen, P. H., Habenstein, B., Madiona, K., Olieric, V., Bockmann, A., Meier, B. H., & Melki, R. (2013). Structural and functional characterization of two alpha-synuclein strains. *Nat Commun*, 4, 2575. doi:10.1038/ncomms3575
- Boza-Serrano, A., Reyes, J. F., Rey, N. L., Leffler, H., Bousset, L., Nilsson, U., Brundin, P., Venero, J. L., Burguillos, M. A., & Deierborg, T. (2014). The role of Galectin-3 in alpha-synuclein-induced microglial activation. *Acta Neuropathol Commun*, 2, 156. doi:10.1186/s40478-014-0156-0
- Braak, H., de Vos, R. A., Bohl, J., & Del Tredici, K. (2006). Gastric alpha-synuclein immunoreactive inclusions in Meissner's and Auerbach's plexuses in cases staged for Parkinson's disease-related brain pathology. *Neurosci Lett, 396*(1), 67-72. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2005.11.012
- Braak, H., & Del Tredici, K. (2009). Neuroanatomy and pathology of sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol, 201*, 1-119.
- Braak, H., Del Tredici, K., Rub, U., de Vos, R. A., Jansen Steur, E. N., & Braak, E. (2003). Staging of brain pathology related to sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Aging*, 24(2), 197-211.
- Braak, H., Rub, U., & Del Tredici, K. (2003). Involvement of precerebellar nuclei in multiple system atrophy. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol, 29*(1), 60-76.
- Braak, H., Sastre, M., & Del Tredici, K. (2007). Development of alpha-synuclein immunoreactive astrocytes in the forebrain parallels stages of intraneuronal pathology in sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neuropathol*, 114(3), 231-241. doi:10.1007/s00401-007-0244-3
- Braidy, N., Gai, W. P., Xu, Y. H., Sachdev, P., Guillemin, G. J., Jiang, X. M., Ballard, J. W., Horan, M. P., Fang, Z. M., Chong, B. H., & Chan, D. K. (2013). Uptake and mitochondrial dysfunction of alpha-synuclein in human astrocytes, cortical neurons and fibroblasts. *Transl Neurodegener*, 2(1), 20. doi:10.1186/2047-9158-2-20
- Brown, A. M., & Ransom, B. R. (2007). Astrocyte glycogen and brain energy metabolism. *Glia*, 55(12), 1263-1271. doi:10.1002/glia.20557
- Brown, D. R. (2007). Interactions between metals and alpha-synuclein--function or artefact? *FEBS J*, 274(15), 3766-3774. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2007.05917.x
- Burre, J., Sharma, M., Tsetsenis, T., Buchman, V., Etherton, M. R., & Sudhof, T. C. (2010). Alpha-synuclein promotes SNARE-complex assembly in vivo and in vitro. *Science*, 329(5999), 1663-1667. doi:10.1126/science.1195227

- Burre, J., Vivona, S., Diao, J., Sharma, M., Brunger, A. T., & Sudhof, T. C. (2013). Properties of native brain alpha-synuclein. *Nature*, 498(7453), E4-6; discussion E6-7. doi:10.1038/nature12125
- Byers, B., Cord, B., Nguyen, H. N., Schule, B., Fenno, L., Lee, P. C., Deisseroth, K., Langston, J. W., Pera, R. R., & Palmer, T. D. (2011). SNCA triplication Parkinson's patient's iPSC-derived DA neurons accumulate alpha-synuclein and are susceptible to oxidative stress. *PLoS One, 6*(11), e26159. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0026159
- Cardo, L. F., Coto, E., de Mena, L., Ribacoba, R., Mata, I. F., Menendez, M., Moris, G., & Alvarez, V. (2014). Alpha-synuclein transcript isoforms in three different brain regions from Parkinson's disease and healthy subjects in relation to the SNCA rs356165/rs11931074 polymorphisms. *Neurosci Lett, 562*, 45-49. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2014.01.009
- Carmignoto, G., & Gomez-Gonzalo, M. (2010). The contribution of astrocyte signalling to neurovascular coupling. *Brain Res Rev*, 63(1-2), 138-148. doi:10.1016/j.brainresrev.2009.11.007
- Chambers, S. M., Fasano, C. A., Papapetrou, E. P., Tomishima, M., Sadelain, M., & Studer, L. (2009). Highly efficient neural conversion of human ES and iPS cells by dual inhibition of SMAD signaling. *Nat Biotechnol*, 27(3), 275-280. doi:10.1038/nbt.1529
- Chandra, S., Fornai, F., Kwon, H. B., Yazdani, U., Atasoy, D., Liu, X., Hammer, R. E., Battaglia, G., German, D. C., Castillo, P. E., & Sudhof, T. C. (2004). Doubleknockout mice for alpha- and beta-synucleins: effect on synaptic functions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101(41), 14966-14971. doi:10.1073/pnas.0406283101
- Chandra, S., Gallardo, G., Fernandez-Chacon, R., Schluter, O. M., & Sudhof, T. C. (2005). Alpha-synuclein cooperates with CSPalpha in preventing neurodegeneration. *Cell*, *123*(3), 383-396. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.09.028
- Chartier-Harlin, M. C., Kachergus, J., Roumier, C., Mouroux, V., Douay, X., Lincoln, S., Levecque, C., Larvor, L., Andrieux, J., Hulihan, M., Waucquier, N., Defebvre, L., Amouyel, P., Farrer, M., & Destee, A. (2004). Alpha-synuclein locus duplication as a cause of familial Parkinson's disease. *Lancet*, 364(9440), 1167-1169. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17103-1
- Chiu, F. C., & Goldman, J. E. (1984). Synthesis and turnover of cytoskeletal proteins in cultured astrocytes. *J Neurochem*, 42(1), 166-174.
- Choi, S. H., Kim, Y. H., Hebisch, M., Sliwinski, C., Lee, S., D'Avanzo, C., Chen, H., Hooli, B., Asselin, C., Muffat, J., Klee, J. B., Zhang, C., Wainger, B. J., Peitz, M., Kovacs, D. M., Woolf, C. J., Wagner, S. L., Tanzi, R. E., & Kim, D. Y. (2014). A threedimensional human neural cell culture model of Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, 515(7526), 274-278. doi:10.1038/nature13800
- Choi, S. S., Lee, H. J., Lim, I., Satoh, J., & Kim, S. U. (2014). Human astrocytes: secretome profiles of cytokines and chemokines. *PLoS One*, 9(4), e92325. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0092325
- Choi, W. S., Kruse, S. E., Palmiter, R. D., & Xia, Z. (2008). Mitochondrial complex I inhibition is not required for dopaminergic neuron death induced by rotenone,

MPP+, or paraquat. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *105*(39), 15136-15141. doi:10.1073/pnas.0807581105

- Clairembault, T., Kamphuis, W., Leclair-Visonneau, L., Rolli-Derkinderen, M., Coron, E., Neunlist, M., Hol, E. M., & Derkinderen, P. (2014). Enteric GFAP expression and phosphorylation in Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem*, 130(6), 805-815. doi:10.1111/jnc.12742
- Cole, N. B., Dieuliis, D., Leo, P., Mitchell, D. C., & Nussbaum, R. L. (2008). Mitochondrial translocation of alpha-synuclein is promoted by intracellular acidification. *Exp Cell Res*, 314(10), 2076-2089. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2008.03.012
- Cykowski, M. D., Coon, E. A., Powell, S. Z., Jenkins, S. M., Benarroch, E. E., Low, P. A., Schmeichel, A. M., & Parisi, J. E. (2015). Expanding the spectrum of neuronal pathology in multiple system atrophy. *Brain*, *138*(Pt 8), 2293-2309. doi:10.1093/brain/awv114
- Czepiel, M., Balasubramaniyan, V., Schaafsma, W., Stancic, M., Mikkers, H., Huisman, C., Boddeke, E., & Copray, S. (2011). Differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells into functional oligodendrocytes. *Glia*, 59(6), 882-892. doi:10.1002/glia.21159
- Dalfo, E., & Ferrer, I. (2005). Alpha-synuclein binding to rab3a in multiple system atrophy. *Neurosci Lett, 380*(1-2), 170-175. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2005.01.034
- Danzer, K. M., Krebs, S. K., Wolff, M., Birk, G., & Hengerer, B. (2009). Seeding induced by alpha-synuclein oligomers provides evidence for spreading of alpha-synuclein pathology. *J Neurochem*, 111(1), 192-203. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06324.x
- Dauer, W., Kholodilov, N., Vila, M., Trillat, A. C., Goodchild, R., Larsen, K. E., Staal, R., Tieu, K., Schmitz, Y., Yuan, C. A., Rocha, M., Jackson-Lewis, V., Hersch, S., Sulzer, D., Przedborski, S., Burke, R., & Hen, R. (2002). Resistance of alpha -synuclein null mice to the parkinsonian neurotoxin MPTP. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99(22), 14524-14529. doi:10.1073/pnas.172514599
- Daviaud, N., Garbayo, E., Schiller, P. C., Perez-Pinzon, M., & Montero-Menei, C. N. (2013). Organotypic cultures as tools for optimizing central nervous system cell therapies. *Exp Neurol*, 248, 429-440. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.07.012
- De Franceschi, G., Frare, E., Pivato, M., Relini, A., Penco, A., Greggio, E., Bubacco, L., Fontana, A., & de Laureto, P. P. (2011). Structural and morphological characterization of aggregated species of alpha-synuclein induced by docosahexaenoic acid. *J Biol Chem*, 286(25), 22262-22274. doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.202937
- Desplats, P., Lee, H. J., Bae, E. J., Patrick, C., Rockenstein, E., Crews, L., Spencer, B., Masliah, E., & Lee, S. J. (2009). Inclusion formation and neuronal cell death through neuron-to-neuron transmission of alpha-synuclein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(31), 13010-13015. doi:10.1073/pnas.0903691106
- Dettmer, U., Newman, A. J., Soldner, F., Luth, E. S., Kim, N. C., von Saucken, V. E., Sanderson, J. B., Jaenisch, R., Bartels, T., & Selkoe, D. (2015). Parkinson-causing alpha-synuclein missense mutations shift native tetramers to monomers as a mechanism for disease initiation. *Nat Commun*, 6, 7314. doi:10.1038/ncomms8314
- Devi, L., Raghavendran, V., Prabhu, B. M., Avadhani, N. G., & Anandatheerthavarada, H. K. (2008). Mitochondrial import and accumulation of alpha-synuclein impair complex I in human dopaminergic neuronal cultures and Parkinson disease brain. J Biol Chem, 283(14), 9089-9100. doi:10.1074/jbc.M710012200

- Devine, M. J., Ryten, M., Vodicka, P., Thomson, A. J., Burdon, T., Houlden, H., Cavaleri, F., Nagano, M., Drummond, N. J., Taanman, J. W., Schapira, A. H., Gwinn, K., Hardy, J., Lewis, P. A., & Kunath, T. (2011). Parkinson's disease induced pluripotent stem cells with triplication of the alpha-synuclein locus. *Nat Commun, 2*, 440. doi:10.1038/ncomms1453
- Devos, D., Lebouvier, T., Lardeux, B., Biraud, M., Rouaud, T., Pouclet, H., Coron, E., Bruley des Varannes, S., Naveilhan, P., Nguyen, J. M., Neunlist, M., & Derkinderen, P. (2013). Colonic inflammation in Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol Dis*, 50, 42-48. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2012.09.007
- Di Giorgio, F. P., Boulting, G. L., Bobrowicz, S., & Eggan, K. C. (2008). Human embryonic stem cell-derived motor neurons are sensitive to the toxic effect of glial cells carrying an ALS-causing mutation. *Cell Stem Cell*, 3(6), 637-648. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2008.09.017
- Dickson, D. W., Lin, W., Liu, W. K., & Yen, S. H. (1999). Multiple system atrophy: a sporadic synucleinopathy. *Brain Pathol, 9*(4), 721-732.
- Ding, T. T., Lee, S. J., Rochet, J. C., & Lansbury, P. T., Jr. (2002). Annular alpha-synuclein protofibrils are produced when spherical protofibrils are incubated in solution or bound to brain-derived membranes. *Biochemistry*, 41(32), 10209-10217.
- Doudna, J. A., & Charpentier, E. (2014). Genome editing. The new frontier of genome engineering with CRISPR-Cas9. *Science*, *346*(6213), 1258096. doi:10.1126/science.1258096
- Douvaras, P., Wang, J., Zimmer, M., Hanchuk, S., O'Bara, M. A., Sadiq, S., Sim, F. J., Goldman, J., & Fossati, V. (2014). Efficient generation of myelinating oligodendrocytes from primary progressive multiple sclerosis patients by induced pluripotent stem cells. *Stem Cell Reports*, 3(2), 250-259. doi:10.1016/j.stemcr.2014.06.012
- El-Agnaf, O. M., Jakes, R., Curran, M. D., & Wallace, A. (1998). Effects of the mutations Ala30 to Pro and Ala53 to Thr on the physical and morphological properties of alpha-synuclein protein implicated in Parkinson's disease. *FEBS Lett, 440*(1-2), 67-70.
- Ellenberg, J., Siggia, E. D., Moreira, J. E., Smith, C. L., Presley, J. F., Worman, H. J., & Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (1997). Nuclear membrane dynamics and reassembly in living cells: targeting of an inner nuclear membrane protein in interphase and mitosis. J Cell Biol, 138(6), 1193-1206.
- Emmanouilidou, E., Melachroinou, K., Roumeliotis, T., Garbis, S. D., Ntzouni, M., Margaritis, L. H., Stefanis, L., & Vekrellis, K. (2010). Cell-produced alpha-synuclein is secreted in a calcium-dependent manner by exosomes and impacts neuronal survival. *J Neurosci, 30*(20), 6838-6851. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5699-09.2010
- Ernst, A., Alkass, K., Bernard, S., Salehpour, M., Perl, S., Tisdale, J., Possnert, G., Druid, H., & Frisen, J. (2014). Neurogenesis in the striatum of the adult human brain. *Cell*, 156(5), 1072-1083. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.044
- Farina, C., Aloisi, F., & Meinl, E. (2007). Astrocytes are active players in cerebral innate immunity. *Trends Immunol*, 28(3), 138-145. doi:10.1016/j.it.2007.01.005
- Farrer, M., Kachergus, J., Forno, L., Lincoln, S., Wang, D. S., Hulihan, M., Maraganore, D., Gwinn-Hardy, K., Wszolek, Z., Dickson, D., & Langston, J. W. (2004).

Comparison of kindreds with parkinsonism and alpha-synuclein genomic multiplications. *Ann Neurol*, *55*(2), 174-179. doi:10.1002/ana.10846

- Fasano, C. A., Chambers, S. M., Lee, G., Tomishima, M. J., & Studer, L. (2010). Efficient derivation of functional floor plate tissue from human embryonic stem cells. *Cell Stem Cell*, 6(4), 336-347. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2010.03.001
- Fellner, L., Irschick, R., Schanda, K., Reindl, M., Klimaschewski, L., Poewe, W., Wenning, G. K., & Stefanova, N. (2013). Toll-like receptor 4 is required for alpha-synuclein dependent activation of microglia and astroglia. *Glia*, 61(3), 349-360. doi:10.1002/glia.22437
- Fellner, L., Jellinger, K. A., Wenning, G. K., & Stefanova, N. (2011). Glial dysfunction in the pathogenesis of alpha-synucleinopathies: emerging concepts. *Acta Neuropathol*, 121(6), 675-693. doi:10.1007/s00401-011-0833-z
- Fischer, Y., Ganic, E., Ameri, J., Xian, X., Johannesson, M., & Semb, H. (2010). NANOG reporter cell lines generated by gene targeting in human embryonic stem cells. *PLoS One*, 5(9). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012533
- Foo, L. C., Allen, N. J., Bushong, E. A., Ventura, P. B., Chung, W. S., Zhou, L., Cahoy, J. D., Daneman, R., Zong, H., Ellisman, M. H., & Barres, B. A. (2011). Development of a method for the purification and culture of rodent astrocytes. *Neuron*, *71*(5), 799-811. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2011.07.022
- Fortin, D. L., Nemani, V. M., Voglmaier, S. M., Anthony, M. D., Ryan, T. A., & Edwards, R. H. (2005). Neural activity controls the synaptic accumulation of alpha-synuclein. *J Neurosci, 25*(47), 10913-10921. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2922-05.2005
- Fortin, D. L., Troyer, M. D., Nakamura, K., Kubo, S., Anthony, M. D., & Edwards, R. H. (2004). Lipid rafts mediate the synaptic localization of alpha-synuclein. *J Neurosci*, 24(30), 6715-6723. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1594-04.2004
- Fowler, C. J., Wiberg, A., Oreland, L., Marcusson, J., & Winblad, B. (1980). The effect of age on the activity and molecular properties of human brain monoamine oxidase. J Neural Transm, 49(1-2), 1-20.
- Freundt, E. C., Maynard, N., Clancy, E. K., Roy, S., Bousset, L., Sourigues, Y., Covert, M., Melki, R., Kirkegaard, K., & Brahic, M. (2012). Neuron-to-neuron transmission of alpha-synuclein fibrils through axonal transport. *Ann Neurol*, 72(4), 517-524. doi:10.1002/ana.23747
- George, J. M., Jin, H., Woods, W. S., & Clayton, D. F. (1995). Characterization of a novel protein regulated during the critical period for song learning in the zebra finch. *Neuron*, 15(2), 361-372.
- Ghaemi, M., Hilker, R., Rudolf, J., Sobesky, J., & Heiss, W. D. (2002). Differentiating multiple system atrophy from Parkinson's disease: contribution of striatal and midbrain MRI volumetry and multi-tracer PET imaging. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 73(5), 517-523.
- Ghee, M., Melki, R., Michot, N., & Mallet, J. (2005). PA700, the regulatory complex of the 26S proteasome, interferes with alpha-synuclein assembly. *FEBS J, 272*(16), 4023-4033. doi:10.1111/j.1742-4658.2005.04776.x
- Giasson, B. I., Murray, I. V., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2001). A hydrophobic stretch of 12 amino acid residues in the middle of alpha-synuclein is essential for filament assembly. *J Biol Chem*, 276(4), 2380-2386. doi:10.1074/jbc.M008919200

- Goers, J., Manning-Bog, A. B., McCormack, A. L., Millett, I. S., Doniach, S., Di Monte, D. A., Uversky, V. N., & Fink, A. L. (2003). Nuclear localization of alpha-synuclein and its interaction with histones. *Biochemistry*, 42(28), 8465-8471. doi:10.1021/bi0341152
- Gomez-Nicola, D., Fransen, N. L., Suzzi, S., & Perry, V. H. (2013). Regulation of microglial proliferation during chronic neurodegeneration. *J Neurosci*, 33(6), 2481-2493. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4440-12.2013
- Goncalves, S., & Outeiro, T. F. (2013). Assessing the subcellular dynamics of alpha-synuclein using photoactivation microscopy. *Mol Neurobiol*, *47*(3), 1081-1092. doi:10.1007/s12035-013-8406-x
- Gu, X. L., Long, C. X., Sun, L., Xie, C., Lin, X., & Cai, H. (2010). Astrocytic expression of Parkinson's disease-related A53T alpha-synuclein causes neurodegeneration in mice. *Mol Brain*, 3, 12. doi:10.1186/1756-6606-3-12
- Guardia-Laguarta, C., Area-Gomez, E., Rub, C., Liu, Y., Magrane, J., Becker, D., Voos, W., Schon, E. A., & Przedborski, S. (2014). alpha-Synuclein is localized to mitochondria-associated ER membranes. *J Neurosci, 34*(1), 249-259. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2507-13.2014
- Hakelien, A. M., Landsverk, H. B., Robl, J. M., Skalhegg, B. S., & Collas, P. (2002). Reprogramming fibroblasts to express T-cell functions using cell extracts. *Nat Biotechnol*, 20(5), 460-466. doi:10.1038/nbt0502-460
- Halassa, M. M., & Haydon, P. G. (2010). Integrated brain circuits: astrocytic networks modulate neuronal activity and behavior. *Annu Rev Physiol*, 72, 335-355. doi:10.1146/annurev-physiol-021909-135843
- Halliday, G. M. (2015). Re-evaluating the glio-centric view of multiple system atrophy by highlighting the neuronal involvement. *Brain, 138*(Pt 8), 2116-2119. doi:10.1093/brain/awv151
- Halliday, G. M., Ophof, A., Broe, M., Jensen, P. H., Kettle, E., Fedorow, H., Cartwright, M. I., Griffiths, F. M., Shepherd, C. E., & Double, K. L. (2005). Alpha-synuclein redistributes to neuromelanin lipid in the substantia nigra early in Parkinson's disease. *Brain*, 128(Pt 11), 2654-2664. doi:10.1093/brain/awh584
- Han, X., Chen, M., Wang, F., Windrem, M., Wang, S., Shanz, S., Xu, Q., Oberheim, N. A., Bekar, L., Betstadt, S., Silva, A. J., Takano, T., Goldman, S. A., & Nedergaard, M. (2013). Forebrain engraftment by human glial progenitor cells enhances synaptic plasticity and learning in adult mice. *Cell Stem Cell*, 12(3), 342-353. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2012.12.015
- Hansen, C., Angot, E., Bergstrom, A. L., Steiner, J. A., Pieri, L., Paul, G., Outeiro, T. F., Melki, R., Kallunki, P., Fog, K., Li, J. Y., & Brundin, P. (2011). alpha-Synuclein propagates from mouse brain to grafted dopaminergic neurons and seeds aggregation in cultured human cells. *J Clin Invest*, 121(2), 715-725. doi:10.1172/JCI43366
- Hardy, J. (2005). Expression of normal sequence pathogenic proteins for neurodegenerative disease contributes to disease risk: 'permissive templating' as a general mechanism underlying neurodegeneration. *Biochem Soc Trans, 33*(Pt 4), 578-581. doi:10.1042/BST0330578
- Hawkes, C. H., Del Tredici, K., & Braak, H. (2009). Parkinson's disease: the dual hit theory revisited. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1170*, 615-622. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04365.x

- Hernandez, D. G., Reed, X., & Singleton, A. B. (2016). Genetics in Parkinson disease: Mendelian versus non-Mendelian inheritance. *J Neurochem*. doi:10.1111/jnc.13593
- Hirrlinger, J., Hulsmann, S., & Kirchhoff, F. (2004). Astroglial processes show spontaneous motility at active synaptic terminals in situ. *Eur J Neurosci, 20*(8), 2235-2239. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03689.x
- Hirsch, E. C., Hunot, S., & Hartmann, A. (2005). Neuroinflammatory processes in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*, 11 Suppl 1, S9-S15. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2004.10.013
- Hishikawa, N., Hashizume, Y., Yoshida, M., & Sobue, G. (2001). Widespread occurrence of argyrophilic glial inclusions in Parkinson's disease. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol*, 27(5), 362-372.
- Hoyer, W., Cherny, D., Subramaniam, V., & Jovin, T. M. (2004). Rapid self-assembly of alpha-synuclein observed by in situ atomic force microscopy. *J Mol Biol*, 340(1), 127-139. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2004.04.051
- Hu, B. Y., Du, Z. W., Li, X. J., Ayala, M., & Zhang, S. C. (2009). Human oligodendrocytes from embryonic stem cells: conserved SHH signaling networks and divergent FGF effects. *Development*, 136(9), 1443-1452. doi:10.1242/dev.029447
- Ibanez, P., Bonnet, A. M., Debarges, B., Lohmann, E., Tison, F., Pollak, P., Agid, Y., Durr, A., & Brice, A. (2004). Causal relation between alpha-synuclein gene duplication and familial Parkinson's disease. *Lancet*, 364(9440), 1169-1171. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17104-3
- Iljina, M., Garcia, G. A., Horrocks, M. H., Tosatto, L., Choi, M. L., Ganzinger, K. A., Abramov, A. Y., Gandhi, S., Wood, N. W., Cremades, N., Dobson, C. M., Knowles, T. P., & Klenerman, D. (2016). Kinetic model of the aggregation of alphasynuclein provides insights into prion-like spreading. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *113*(9), E1206-1215. doi:10.1073/pnas.1524128113
- Iwai, A., Masliah, E., Yoshimoto, M., Ge, N., Flanagan, L., de Silva, H. A., Kittel, A., & Saitoh, T. (1995). The precursor protein of non-A beta component of Alzheimer's disease amyloid is a presynaptic protein of the central nervous system. *Neuron*, 14(2), 467-475.
- Jenco, J. M., Rawlingson, A., Daniels, B., & Morris, A. J. (1998). Regulation of phospholipase D2: selective inhibition of mammalian phospholipase D isoenzymes by alpha- and beta-synucleins. *Biochemistry*, 37(14), 4901-4909. doi:10.1021/bi972776r
- Jensen, M. B., Bhatia, V. K., Jao, C. C., Rasmussen, J. E., Pedersen, S. L., Jensen, K. J., Langen, R., & Stamou, D. (2011). Membrane curvature sensing by amphipathic helices: a single liposome study using alpha-synuclein and annexin B12. *J Biol Chem*, 286(49), 42603-42614. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111.271130
- Jessen, K. R., & Mirsky, R. (1980). Glial cells in the enteric nervous system contain glial fibrillary acidic protein. *Nature, 286*(5774), 736-737.
- Jiang, P., Chen, C., Wang, R., Chechneva, O. V., Chung, S. H., Rao, M. S., Pleasure, D. E., Liu, Y., Zhang, Q., & Deng, W. (2013). hESC-derived Olig2+ progenitors generate a subtype of astroglia with protective effects against ischaemic brain injury. *Nat Commun*, 4, 2196. doi:10.1038/ncomms3196

- Juopperi, T. A., Kim, W. R., Chiang, C. H., Yu, H., Margolis, R. L., Ross, C. A., Ming, G. L., & Song, H. (2012). Astrocytes generated from patient induced pluripotent stem cells recapitulate features of Huntington's disease patient cells. *Mol Brain*, 5, 17. doi:10.1186/1756-6606-5-17
- Kang, S. M., Cho, M. S., Seo, H., Yoon, C. J., Oh, S. K., Choi, Y. M., & Kim, D. W. (2007). Efficient induction of oligodendrocytes from human embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cells*, 25(2), 419-424. doi:10.1634/stemcells.2005-0482
- Kato, S., & Nakamura, H. (1990). Cytoplasmic argyrophilic inclusions in neurons of pontine nuclei in patients with olivopontocerebellar atrophy: immunohistochemical and ultrastructural studies. *Acta Neuropathol*, 79(6), 584-594.
- Kessaris, N., Fogarty, M., Iannarelli, P., Grist, M., Wegner, M., & Richardson, W. D. (2006). Competing waves of oligodendrocytes in the forebrain and postnatal elimination of an embryonic lineage. *Nat Neurosci, 9*(2), 173-179. doi:10.1038/nn1620
- Kholodilov, N. G., Oo, T. F., & Burke, R. E. (1999). Synuclein expression is decreased in rat substantia nigra following induction of apoptosis by intrastriatal 6hydroxydopamine. *Neurosci Lett*, 275(2), 105-108.
- Kim, H. Y., Cho, M. K., Kumar, A., Maier, E., Siebenhaar, C., Becker, S., Fernandez, C. O., Lashuel, H. A., Benz, R., Lange, A., & Zweckstetter, M. (2009). Structural properties of pore-forming oligomers of alpha-synuclein. *J Am Chem Soc*, 131(47), 17482-17489. doi:10.1021/ja9077599
- Kim, Y. H., Choi, S. H., D'Avanzo, C., Hebisch, M., Sliwinski, C., Bylykbashi, E., Washicosky, K. J., Klee, J. B., Brustle, O., Tanzi, R. E., & Kim, D. Y. (2015). A 3D human neural cell culture system for modeling Alzheimer's disease. *Nat Protoc*, 10(7), 985-1006. doi:10.1038/nprot.2015.065
- Kirkeby, A., Grealish, S., Wolf, D. A., Nelander, J., Wood, J., Lundblad, M., Lindvall, O., & Parmar, M. (2012). Generation of regionally specified neural progenitors and functional neurons from human embryonic stem cells under defined conditions. *Cell Rep*, 1(6), 703-714. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2012.04.009
- Kisos, H., Pukass, K., Ben-Hur, T., Richter-Landsberg, C., & Sharon, R. (2012). Increased neuronal alpha-synuclein pathology associates with its accumulation in oligodendrocytes in mice modeling alpha-synucleinopathies. *PLoS One, 7*(10), e46817. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0046817
- Klegeris, A., Giasson, B. I., Zhang, H., Maguire, J., Pelech, S., & McGeer, P. L. (2006). Alpha-synuclein and its disease-causing mutants induce ICAM-1 and IL-6 in human astrocytes and astrocytoma cells. *FASEB J, 20*(12), 2000-2008. doi:10.1096/fj.06-6183com
- Koehler, R. C., Roman, R. J., & Harder, D. R. (2009). Astrocytes and the regulation of cerebral blood flow. *Trends Neurosci*, 32(3), 160-169. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2008.11.005
- Kondo, T., Asai, M., Tsukita, K., Kutoku, Y., Ohsawa, Y., Sunada, Y., Imamura, K., Egawa, N., Yahata, N., Okita, K., Takahashi, K., Asaka, I., Aoi, T., Watanabe, A., Watanabe, K., Kadoya, C., Nakano, R., Watanabe, D., Maruyama, K., Hori, O., Hibino, S., Choshi, T., Nakahata, T., Hioki, H., Kaneko, T., Naitoh, M., Yoshikawa, K., Yamawaki, S., Suzuki, S., Hata, R., Ueno, S., Seki, T., Kobayashi,

K., Toda, T., Murakami, K., Irie, K., Klein, W. L., Mori, H., Asada, T., Takahashi, R., Iwata, N., Yamanaka, S., & Inoue, H. (2013). Modeling Alzheimer's disease with iPSCs reveals stress phenotypes associated with intracellular Abeta and differential drug responsiveness. *Cell Stem Cell*, *12*(4), 487-496. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2013.01.009

- Kordower, J. H., Chu, Y., Hauser, R. A., Olanow, C. W., & Freeman, T. B. (2008). Transplanted dopaminergic neurons develop PD pathologic changes: a second case report. *Mov Disord*, 23(16), 2303-2306. doi:10.1002/mds.22369
- Kosaka, K., Yoshimura, M., Ikeda, K., & Budka, H. (1984). Diffuse type of Lewy body disease: progressive dementia with abundant cortical Lewy bodies and senile changes of varying degree--a new disease? *Clin Neuropathol*, 3(5), 185-192.
- Krencik, R., Weick, J. P., Liu, Y., Zhang, Z. J., & Zhang, S. C. (2011). Specification of transplantable astroglial subtypes from human pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Biotechnol*, 29(6), 528-534. doi:10.1038/nbt.1877
- Kriks, S., Shim, J. W., Piao, J., Ganat, Y. M., Wakeman, D. R., Xie, Z., Carrillo-Reid, L., Auyeung, G., Antonacci, C., Buch, A., Yang, L., Beal, M. F., Surmeier, D. J., Kordower, J. H., Tabar, V., & Studer, L. (2011). Dopamine neurons derived from human ES cells efficiently engraft in animal models of Parkinson's disease. *Nature*, 480(7378), 547-551. doi:10.1038/nature10648
- Kruger, R., Kuhn, W., Muller, T., Woitalla, D., Graeber, M., Kosel, S., Przuntek, H., Epplen, J. T., Schols, L., & Riess, O. (1998). Ala30Pro mutation in the gene encoding alpha-synuclein in Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet*, 18(2), 106-108. doi:10.1038/ng0298-106
- Kumar, K. R., Djarmati-Westenberger, A., & Grunewald, A. (2011). Genetics of Parkinson's disease. Semin Neurol, 31(5), 433-440. doi:10.1055/s-0031-1299782
- Lamas, N. J., Johnson-Kerner, B., Roybon, L., Kim, Y. A., Garcia-Diaz, A., Wichterle, H., & Henderson, C. E. (2014). Neurotrophic requirements of human motor neurons defined using amplified and purified stem cell-derived cultures. *PLoS One*, 9(10), e110324. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0110324
- Langston, J. W., Ballard, P., Tetrud, J. W., & Irwin, I. (1983). Chronic Parkinsonism in humans due to a product of meperidine-analog synthesis. *Science*, 219(4587), 979-980.
- Larsen, N. J., Ambrosi, G., Mullett, S. J., Berman, S. B., & Hinkle, D. A. (2011). DJ-1 knock-down impairs astrocyte mitochondrial function. *Neuroscience*, 196, 251-264. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.08.016
- Lasek, R. J., Garner, J. A., & Brady, S. T. (1984). Axonal transport of the cytoplasmic matrix. *J Cell Biol, 99*(1 Pt 2), 212s-221s.
- Lashuel, H. A., Overk, C. R., Oueslati, A., & Masliah, E. (2013). The many faces of alphasynuclein: from structure and toxicity to therapeutic target. *Nat Rev Neurosci*, 14(1), 38-48. doi:10.1038/nrn3406
- Lebouvier, T., Chaumette, T., Paillusson, S., Duyckaerts, C., Bruley des Varannes, S., Neunlist, M., & Derkinderen, P. (2009). The second brain and Parkinson's disease. *Eur J Neurosci, 30*(5), 735-741. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.06873.x
- Lee, H. J., Suk, J. E., Patrick, C., Bae, E. J., Cho, J. H., Rho, S., Hwang, D., Masliah, E., & Lee, S. J. (2010). Direct transfer of alpha-synuclein from neuron to astroglia causes

inflammatory responses in synucleinopathies. *J Biol Chem*, 285(12), 9262-9272. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.081125

- Lee, Y., Messing, A., Su, M., & Brenner, M. (2008). GFAP promoter elements required for region-specific and astrocyte-specific expression. *Glia*, 56(5), 481-493. doi:10.1002/glia.20622
- Lerner, A., & Bagic, A. (2008). Olfactory pathogenesis of idiopathic Parkinson disease revisited. *Mov Disord*, 23(8), 1076-1084. doi:10.1002/mds.22066
- Li, J. Y., Englund, E., Holton, J. L., Soulet, D., Hagell, P., Lees, A. J., Lashley, T., Quinn, N. P., Rehncrona, S., Bjorklund, A., Widner, H., Revesz, T., Lindvall, O., & Brundin, P. (2008). Lewy bodies in grafted neurons in subjects with Parkinson's disease suggest host-to-graft disease propagation. *Nat Med*, 14(5), 501-503. doi:10.1038/nm1746
- Liu, J., & Huang, H. Y. (2007). How to improve the survival of the fetal ventral mesencephalic cell transplanted in Parkinson's disease? *Neurosci Bull*, 23(6), 377-382. doi:10.1007/s12264-007-0056-4
- Liu, Y., Jiang, P., & Deng, W. (2011). OLIG gene targeting in human pluripotent stem cells for motor neuron and oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Nat Protoc*, 6(5), 640-655. doi:10.1038/nprot.2011.310
- Luk, K. C., Kehm, V., Carroll, J., Zhang, B., O'Brien, P., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2012). Pathological alpha-synuclein transmission initiates Parkinson-like neurodegeneration in nontransgenic mice. *Science*, 338(6109), 949-953. doi:10.1126/science.1227157
- Luk, K. C., Song, C., O'Brien, P., Stieber, A., Branch, J. R., Brunden, K. R., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2009). Exogenous alpha-synuclein fibrils seed the formation of Lewy body-like intracellular inclusions in cultured cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(47), 20051-20056. doi:10.1073/pnas.0908005106
- Mahy, N., Andres, N., Andrade, C., & Saura, J. (2000). Age-related changes of MAO-A and -B distribution in human and mouse brain. *Neurobiology (Bp), 8*(1), 47-54.
- Mallajosyula, J. K., Kaur, D., Chinta, S. J., Rajagopalan, S., Rane, A., Nicholls, D. G., Di Monte, D. A., Macarthur, H., & Andersen, J. K. (2008). MAO-B elevation in mouse brain astrocytes results in Parkinson's pathology. *PLoS One*, 3(2), e1616. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001616
- Maroteaux, L., Campanelli, J. T., & Scheller, R. H. (1988). Synuclein: a neuron-specific protein localized to the nucleus and presynaptic nerve terminal. *J Neurosci, 8*(8), 2804-2815.
- Maroteaux, L., & Scheller, R. H. (1991). The rat brain synucleins; family of proteins transiently associated with neuronal membrane. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 11(3-4), 335-343.
- McCarthy, K. D., & de Vellis, J. (1980). Preparation of separate astroglial and oligodendroglial cell cultures from rat cerebral tissue. *J Cell Biol*, 85(3), 890-902.
- Mendez, I., Vinuela, A., Astradsson, A., Mukhida, K., Hallett, P., Robertson, H., Tierney, T., Holness, R., Dagher, A., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Isacson, O. (2008). Dopamine neurons implanted into people with Parkinson's disease survive without pathology for 14 years. *Nat Med*, 14(5), 507-509. doi:10.1038/nm1752

- Miller, D. W., Johnson, J. M., Solano, S. M., Hollingsworth, Z. R., Standaert, D. G., & Young, A. B. (2005). Absence of alpha-synuclein mRNA expression in normal and multiple system atrophy oligodendroglia. *J Neural Transm (Vienna)*, 112(12), 1613-1624. doi:10.1007/s00702-005-0378-1
- Mirza, B., Hadberg, H., Thomsen, P., & Moos, T. (2000). The absence of reactive astrocytosis is indicative of a unique inflammatory process in Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience*, *95*(2), 425-432.
- Mori, F., Tanji, K., Yoshimoto, M., Takahashi, H., & Wakabayashi, K. (2002a). Demonstration of alpha-synuclein immunoreactivity in neuronal and glial cytoplasm in normal human brain tissue using proteinase K and formic acid pretreatment. *Exp Neurol*, 176(1), 98-104.
- Mori, F., Tanji, K., Yoshimoto, M., Takahashi, H., & Wakabayashi, K. (2002b). Immunohistochemical comparison of alpha- and beta-synuclein in adult rat central nervous system. *Brain Res*, 941(1-2), 118-126.
- Mullett, S. J., & Hinkle, D. A. (2009). DJ-1 knock-down in astrocytes impairs astrocytemediated neuroprotection against rotenone. *Neurobiol Dis*, 33(1), 28-36. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2008.09.013
- Munoz-Sanjuan, I., Bell, E., Altmann, C. R., Vonica, A., & Brivanlou, A. H. (2002). Gene profiling during neural induction in Xenopus laevis: regulation of BMP signaling by post-transcriptional mechanisms and TAB3, a novel TAK1-binding protein. *Development*, 129(23), 5529-5540.
- Murphy, D. D., Rueter, S. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2000). Synucleins are developmentally expressed, and alpha-synuclein regulates the size of the presynaptic vesicular pool in primary hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci, 20*(9), 3214-3220.
- Nalls, M. A., Pankratz, N., Lill, C. M., Do, C. B., Hernandez, D. G., Saad, M., DeStefano, A. L., Kara, E., Bras, J., Sharma, M., Schulte, C., Keller, M. F., Arepalli, S., Letson, C., Edsall, C., Stefansson, H., Liu, X., Pliner, H., Lee, J. H., Cheng, R., International Parkinson's Disease Genomics, C., Parkinson's Study Group Parkinson's Research: The Organized, G. I., andMe, GenePd, NeuroGenetics Research, C., Hussman Institute of Human, G., Ashkenazi Jewish Dataset, I., Cohorts for, H., Aging Research in Genetic, E., North American Brain Expression, C., United Kingdom Brain Expression, C., Greek Parkinson's Disease, C., Alzheimer Genetic Analysis, G., Ikram, M. A., Ioannidis, J. P., Hadjigeorgiou, G. M., Bis, J. C., Martinez, M., Perlmutter, J. S., Goate, A., Marder, K., Fiske, B., Sutherland, M., Xiromerisiou, G., Myers, R. H., Clark, L. N., Stefansson, K., Hardy, J. A., Heutink, P., Chen, H., Wood, N. W., Houlden, H., Payami, H., Brice, A., Scott, W. K., Gasser, T., Bertram, L., Eriksson, N., Foroud, T., & Singleton, A. B. (2014). Large-scale meta-analysis of genome-wide association data identifies six new risk loci for Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet, 46*(9), 989-993. doi:10.1038/ng.3043
- Nat, R., Nilbratt, M., Narkilahti, S., Winblad, B., Hovatta, O., & Nordberg, A. (2007). Neurogenic neuroepithelial and radial glial cells generated from six human embryonic stem cell lines in serum-free suspension and adherent cultures. *Glia*, 55(4), 385-399. doi:10.1002/glia.20463
- Nguyen, H. N., Byers, B., Cord, B., Shcheglovitov, A., Byrne, J., Gujar, P., Kee, K., Schule, B., Dolmetsch, R. E., Langston, W., Palmer, T. D., & Pera, R. R. (2011). LRRK2

mutant iPSC-derived DA neurons demonstrate increased susceptibility to oxidative stress. *Cell Stem Cell*, 8(3), 267-280. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2011.01.013

- Nistor, G. I., Totoiu, M. O., Haque, N., Carpenter, M. K., & Keirstead, H. S. (2005). Human embryonic stem cells differentiate into oligodendrocytes in high purity and myelinate after spinal cord transplantation. *Glia*, 49(3), 385-396. doi:10.1002/glia.20127
- Noble, M., Davies, J. E., Mayer-Proschel, M., Proschel, C., & Davies, S. J. (2011). Precursor cell biology and the development of astrocyte transplantation therapies: lessons from spinal cord injury. *Neurotherapeutics*, 8(4), 677-693. doi:10.1007/s13311-011-0071z
- Obara, M., Szeliga, M., & Albrecht, J. (2008). Regulation of pH in the mammalian central nervous system under normal and pathological conditions: facts and hypotheses. *Neurochem Int*, *52*(6), 905-919. doi:10.1016/j.neuint.2007.10.015
- Oberheim, N. A., Takano, T., Han, X., He, W., Lin, J. H., Wang, F., Xu, Q., Wyatt, J. D., Pilcher, W., Ojemann, J. G., Ransom, B. R., Goldman, S. A., & Nedergaard, M. (2009). Uniquely hominid features of adult human astrocytes. *J Neurosci, 29*(10), 3276-3287. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4707-08.2009
- Ohgidani, M., Kato, T. A., & Kanba, S. (2015). Introducing directly induced microglia-like (iMG) cells from fresh human monocytes: a novel translational research tool for psychiatric disorders. *Front Cell Neurosci*, 9, 184. doi:10.3389/fncel.2015.00184
- Oliveira, L. M., Falomir-Lockhart, L. J., Botelho, M. G., Lin, K. H., Wales, P., Koch, J. C., Gerhardt, E., Taschenberger, H., Outeiro, T. F., Lingor, P., Schule, B., Arndt-Jovin, D. J., & Jovin, T. M. (2015). Elevated alpha-synuclein caused by SNCA gene triplication impairs neuronal differentiation and maturation in Parkinson's patientderived induced pluripotent stem cells. *Cell Death Dis, 6*, e1994. doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.318
- Oueslati, A., Fournier, M., & Lashuel, H. A. (2010). Role of post-translational modifications in modulating the structure, function and toxicity of alpha-synuclein: implications for Parkinson's disease pathogenesis and therapies. *Prog Brain Res, 183*, 115-145. doi:10.1016/S0079-6123(10)83007-9
- Ozawa, T., Okuizumi, K., Ikeuchi, T., Wakabayashi, K., Takahashi, H., & Tsuji, S. (2001). Analysis of the expression level of alpha-synuclein mRNA using postmortem brain samples from pathologically confirmed cases of multiple system atrophy. *Acta Neuropathol, 102*(2), 188-190.
- Ozawa, T., Paviour, D., Quinn, N. P., Josephs, K. A., Sangha, H., Kilford, L., Healy, D. G., Wood, N. W., Lees, A. J., Holton, J. L., & Revesz, T. (2004). The spectrum of pathological involvement of the striatonigral and olivopontocerebellar systems in multiple system atrophy: clinicopathological correlations. *Brain*, 127(Pt 12), 2657-2671. doi:10.1093/brain/awh303
- Paik, S. R., Shin, H. J., Lee, J. H., Chang, C. S., & Kim, J. (1999). Copper(II)-induced selfoligomerization of alpha-synuclein. *Biochem J*, 340 (Pt 3), 821-828.
- Pan-Montojo, F., Schwarz, M., Winkler, C., Arnhold, M., O'Sullivan, G. A., Pal, A., Said, J., Marsico, G., Verbavatz, J. M., Rodrigo-Angulo, M., Gille, G., Funk, R. H., & Reichmann, H. (2012). Environmental toxins trigger PD-like progression via

increased alpha-synuclein release from enteric neurons in mice. *Sci Rep, 2*, 898. doi:10.1038/srep00898

- Pan-Montojo, F. J., & Funk, R. H. (2010). Oral administration of rotenone using a gavage and image analysis of alpha-synuclein inclusions in the enteric nervous system. J Vis Exp(44). doi:10.3791/2123
- Papapetropoulos, S., Paschalis, C., Athanassiadou, A., Papadimitriou, A., Ellul, J., Polymeropoulos, M. H., & Papapetropoulos, T. (2001). Clinical phenotype in patients with alpha-synuclein Parkinson's disease living in Greece in comparison with patients with sporadic Parkinson's disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 70(5), 662-665.
- Papp, M. I., Kahn, J. E., & Lantos, P. L. (1989). Glial cytoplasmic inclusions in the CNS of patients with multiple system atrophy (striatonigral degeneration, olivopontocerebellar atrophy and Shy-Drager syndrome). J Neurol Sci, 94(1-3), 79-100.
- Papp, M. I., & Lantos, P. L. (1994). The distribution of oligodendroglial inclusions in multiple system atrophy and its relevance to clinical symptomatology. *Brain*, 117 (Pt 2), 235-243.
- Park, H., Kim, D., Kim, C. H., Mills, R. E., Chang, M. Y., Iskow, R. C., Ko, S., Moon, J. I., Choi, H. W., Man Yoo, P. S., Do, J. T., Han, M. J., Lee, E. G., Jung, J. K., Zhang, C., Lanza, R., & Kim, K. S. (2014). Increased genomic integrity of an improved protein-based mouse induced pluripotent stem cell method compared with current viral-induced strategies. *Stem Cells Transl Med*, 3(5), 599-609. doi:10.5966/sctm.2013-0149
- Pasca, A. M., Sloan, S. A., Clarke, L. E., Tian, Y., Makinson, C. D., Huber, N., Kim, C. H., Park, J. Y., O'Rourke, N. A., Nguyen, K. D., Smith, S. J., Huguenard, J. R., Geschwind, D. H., Barres, B. A., & Pasca, S. P. (2015). Functional cortical neurons and astrocytes from human pluripotent stem cells in 3D culture. *Nat Methods, 12*(7), 671-678. doi:10.1038/nmeth.3415
- Payton, J. E., Perrin, R. J., Woods, W. S., & George, J. M. (2004). Structural determinants of PLD2 inhibition by alpha-synuclein. *J Mol Biol*, 337(4), 1001-1009. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2004.02.014
- Peelaerts, W., Bousset, L., Van der Perren, A., Moskalyuk, A., Pulizzi, R., Giugliano, M., Van den Haute, C., Melki, R., & Baekelandt, V. (2015). alpha-Synuclein strains cause distinct synucleinopathies after local and systemic administration. *Nature*, 522(7556), 340-344. doi:10.1038/nature14547
- Perrier, A. L., Tabar, V., Barberi, T., Rubio, M. E., Bruses, J., Topf, N., Harrison, N. L., & Studer, L. (2004). Derivation of midbrain dopamine neurons from human embryonic stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 101(34), 12543-12548. doi:10.1073/pnas.0404700101
- Phair, R. D., Gorski, S. A., & Misteli, T. (2004). Measurement of dynamic protein binding to chromatin in vivo, using photobleaching microscopy. *Methods Enzymol*, 375, 393-414.
- Phillips, R. J., Walter, G. C., Wilder, S. L., Baronowsky, E. A., & Powley, T. L. (2008). Alpha-synuclein-immunopositive myenteric neurons and vagal preganglionic

terminals: autonomic pathway implicated in Parkinson's disease? *Neuroscience*, *153*(3), 733-750. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.02.074

- Placantonakis, D. G., Tomishima, M. J., Lafaille, F., Desbordes, S. C., Jia, F., Socci, N. D., Viale, A., Lee, H., Harrison, N., Tabar, V., & Studer, L. (2009). BAC transgenesis in human embryonic stem cells as a novel tool to define the human neural lineage. *Stem Cells*, 27(3), 521-532. doi:10.1634/stemcells.2008-0884
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Higgins, J. J., Golbe, L. I., Johnson, W. G., Ide, S. E., Di Iorio, G., Sanges, G., Stenroos, E. S., Pho, L. T., Schaffer, A. A., Lazzarini, A. M., Nussbaum, R. L., & Duvoisin, R. C. (1996). Mapping of a gene for Parkinson's disease to chromosome 4q21-q23. *Science*, 274(5290), 1197-1199.
- Polymeropoulos, M. H., Lavedan, C., Leroy, E., Ide, S. E., Dehejia, A., Dutra, A., Pike, B., Root, H., Rubenstein, J., Boyer, R., Stenroos, E. S., Chandrasekharappa, S., Athanassiadou, A., Papapetropoulos, T., Johnson, W. G., Lazzarini, A. M., Duvoisin, R. C., Di Iorio, G., Golbe, L. I., & Nussbaum, R. L. (1997). Mutation in the alpha-synuclein gene identified in families with Parkinson's disease. *Science*, 276(5321), 2045-2047.
- Pomeshchik, Y., Puttonen, K. A., Kidin, I., Ruponen, M., Lehtonen, S., Malm, T., Akesson, E., Hovatta, O., & Koistinaho, J. (2015). Transplanted Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Neural Progenitor Cells Do Not Promote Functional Recovery of Pharmacologically Immunosuppressed Mice With Contusion Spinal Cord Injury. *Cell Transplant, 24*(9), 1799-1812. doi:10.3727/096368914X684079
- Prusiner, S. B., Woerman, A. L., Mordes, D. A., Watts, J. C., Rampersaud, R., Berry, D. B., Patel, S., Oehler, A., Lowe, J. K., Kravitz, S. N., Geschwind, D. H., Glidden, D. V., Halliday, G. M., Middleton, L. T., Gentleman, S. M., Grinberg, L. T., & Giles, K. (2015). Evidence for alpha-synuclein prions causing multiple system atrophy in humans with parkinsonism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *112*(38), E5308-5317. doi:10.1073/pnas.1514475112
- Rey, N. L., Petit, G. H., Bousset, L., Melki, R., & Brundin, P. (2013). Transfer of human alpha-synuclein from the olfactory bulb to interconnected brain regions in mice. *Acta Neuropathol, 126*(4), 555-573. doi:10.1007/s00401-013-1160-3
- Reyes, J. F., Rey, N. L., Bousset, L., Melki, R., Brundin, P., & Angot, E. (2014). Alphasynuclein transfers from neurons to oligodendrocytes. *Glia*, 62(3), 387-398. doi:10.1002/glia.22611
- Rhee, Y. H., Ko, J. Y., Chang, M. Y., Yi, S. H., Kim, D., Kim, C. H., Shim, J. W., Jo, A. Y., Kim, B. W., Lee, H., Lee, S. H., Suh, W., Park, C. H., Koh, H. C., Lee, Y. S., Lanza, R., Kim, K. S., & Lee, S. H. (2011). Protein-based human iPS cells efficiently generate functional dopamine neurons and can treat a rat model of Parkinson disease. *J Clin Invest*, 121(6), 2326-2335. doi:10.1172/JCI45794
- Richter-Landsberg, C., Gorath, M., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (2000). alpha-synuclein is developmentally expressed in cultured rat brain oligodendrocytes. *J Neurosci Res*, 62(1), 9-14.
- Rostovskaya, M., Fu, J., Obst, M., Baer, I., Weidlich, S., Wang, H., Smith, A. J., Anastassiadis, K., & Stewart, A. F. (2012). Transposon-mediated BAC transgenesis in human ES cells. *Nucleic Acids Res, 40*(19), e150. doi:10.1093/nar/gks643

- Roybon, L., Lamas, N. J., Garcia-Diaz, A., Yang, E. J., Sattler, R., Jackson-Lewis, V., Kim, Y. A., Kachel, C. A., Rothstein, J. D., Przedborski, S., Wichterle, H., & Henderson, C. E. (2013). Human stem cell-derived spinal cord astrocytes with defined mature or reactive phenotypes. *Cell Rep, 4*(5), 1035-1048. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2013.06.021
- Ruhl, A., Franzke, S., Collins, S. M., & Stremmel, W. (2001). Interleukin-6 expression and regulation in rat enteric glial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol*, 280(6), G1163-1171.
- Saavedra, A., Baltazar, G., Santos, P., Carvalho, C. M., & Duarte, E. P. (2006). Selective injury to dopaminergic neurons up-regulates GDNF in substantia nigra postnatal cell cultures: role of neuron-glia crosstalk. *Neurobiol Dis, 23*(3), 533-542. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2006.04.008
- Sandhu, J. K., Gardaneh, M., Iwasiow, R., Lanthier, P., Gangaraju, S., Ribecco-Lutkiewicz, M., Tremblay, R., Kiuchi, K., & Sikorska, M. (2009). Astrocyte-secreted GDNF and glutathione antioxidant system protect neurons against 6OHDA cytotoxicity. *Neurobiol Dis*, 33(3), 405-414. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2008.11.016
- Satake, W., Nakabayashi, Y., Mizuta, I., Hirota, Y., Ito, C., Kubo, M., Kawaguchi, T., Tsunoda, T., Watanabe, M., Takeda, A., Tomiyama, H., Nakashima, K., Hasegawa, K., Obata, F., Yoshikawa, T., Kawakami, H., Sakoda, S., Yamamoto, M., Hattori, N., Murata, M., Nakamura, Y., & Toda, T. (2009). Genome-wide association study identifies common variants at four loci as genetic risk factors for Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet*, 41(12), 1303-1307. doi:10.1038/ng.485
- Sattler, R., & Rothstein, J. D. (2006). Regulation and dysregulation of glutamate transporters. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*(175), 277-303.
- Schlaeger, T. M., Daheron, L., Brickler, T. R., Entwisle, S., Chan, K., Cianci, A., DeVine, A., Ettenger, A., Fitzgerald, K., Godfrey, M., Gupta, D., McPherson, J., Malwadkar, P., Gupta, M., Bell, B., Doi, A., Jung, N., Li, X., Lynes, M. S., Brookes, E., Cherry, A. B., Demirbas, D., Tsankov, A. M., Zon, L. I., Rubin, L. L., Feinberg, A. P., Meissner, A., Cowan, C. A., & Daley, G. Q. (2015). A comparison of non-integrating reprogramming methods. *Nat Biotechnol*, *33*(1), 58-63. doi:10.1038/nbt.3070
- Serio, A., Bilican, B., Barmada, S. J., Ando, D. M., Zhao, C., Siller, R., Burr, K., Haghi, G., Story, D., Nishimura, A. L., Carrasco, M. A., Phatnani, H. P., Shum, C., Wilmut, I., Maniatis, T., Shaw, C. E., Finkbeiner, S., & Chandran, S. (2013). Astrocyte pathology and the absence of non-cell autonomy in an induced pluripotent stem cell model of TDP-43 proteinopathy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *110*(12), 4697-4702. doi:10.1073/pnas.1300398110
- Shaltouki, A., Peng, J., Liu, Q., Rao, M. S., & Zeng, X. (2013). Efficient generation of astrocytes from human pluripotent stem cells in defined conditions. *Stem Cells*, 31(5), 941-952. doi:10.1002/stem.1334
- Shavali, S., Brown-Borg, H. M., Ebadi, M., & Porter, J. (2008). Mitochondrial localization of alpha-synuclein protein in alpha-synuclein overexpressing cells. *Neurosci Lett*, 439(2), 125-128. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2008.05.005
- Sherer, T. B., Richardson, J. R., Testa, C. M., Seo, B. B., Panov, A. V., Yagi, T., Matsuno-Yagi, A., Miller, G. W., & Greenamyre, J. T. (2007). Mechanism of toxicity of

pesticides acting at complex I: relevance to environmental etiologies of Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem, 100*(6), 1469-1479. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04333.x

- Shoji, M., Harigaya, Y., Sasaki, A., Ueda, K., Ishiguro, K., Matsubara, E., Watanabe, M., Ikeda, M., Kanai, M., Tomidokoro, Y., Shizuka, M., Amari, M., Kosaka, K., Nakazato, Y., Okamoto, K., & Hirai, S. (2000). Accumulation of NACP/alphasynuclein in lewy body disease and multiple system atrophy. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 68(5), 605-608.
- Simard, M., & Nedergaard, M. (2004). The neurobiology of glia in the context of water and ion homeostasis. *Neuroscience*, 129(4), 877-896. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.09.053
- Simon-Sanchez, J., Schulte, C., Bras, J. M., Sharma, M., Gibbs, J. R., Berg, D., Paisan-Ruiz, C., Lichtner, P., Scholz, S. W., Hernandez, D. G., Kruger, R., Federoff, M., Klein, C., Goate, A., Perlmutter, J., Bonin, M., Nalls, M. A., Illig, T., Gieger, C., Houlden, H., Steffens, M., Okun, M. S., Racette, B. A., Cookson, M. R., Foote, K. D., Fernandez, H. H., Traynor, B. J., Schreiber, S., Arepalli, S., Zonozi, R., Gwinn, K., van der Brug, M., Lopez, G., Chanock, S. J., Schatzkin, A., Park, Y., Hollenbeck, A., Gao, J., Huang, X., Wood, N. W., Lorenz, D., Deuschl, G., Chen, H., Riess, O., Hardy, J. A., Singleton, A. B., & Gasser, T. (2009). Genome-wide association study reveals genetic risk underlying Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet*, *41*(12), 1308-1312. doi:10.1038/ng.487
- Singleton, A. B., Farrer, M., Johnson, J., Singleton, A., Hague, S., Kachergus, J., Hulihan, M., Peuralinna, T., Dutra, A., Nussbaum, R., Lincoln, S., Crawley, A., Hanson, M., Maraganore, D., Adler, C., Cookson, M. R., Muenter, M., Baptista, M., Miller, D., Blancato, J., Hardy, J., & Gwinn-Hardy, K. (2003). alpha-Synuclein locus triplication causes Parkinson's disease. *Science*, 302(5646), 841. doi:10.1126/science.1090278
- Snapp, E. L., Altan, N., & Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (2003). Measuring protein mobility by photobleaching GFP chimeras in living cells. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol, Chapter 21*, Unit 21 21. doi:10.1002/0471143030.cb2101s19
- Solano, S. M., Miller, D. W., Augood, S. J., Young, A. B., & Penney, J. B., Jr. (2000). Expression of alpha-synuclein, parkin, and ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 mRNA in human brain: genes associated with familial Parkinson's disease. Ann Neurol, 47(2), 201-210.
- Song, Y. J., Halliday, G. M., Holton, J. L., Lashley, T., O'Sullivan, S. S., McCann, H., Lees, A. J., Ozawa, T., Williams, D. R., Lockhart, P. J., & Revesz, T. R. (2009).
  Degeneration in different parkinsonian syndromes relates to astrocyte type and astrocyte protein expression. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 68*(10), 1073-1083. doi:10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181b66f1b
- Spalding, K. L., Bhardwaj, R. D., Buchholz, B. A., Druid, H., & Frisen, J. (2005). Retrospective birth dating of cells in humans. *Cell*, 122(1), 133-143. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.04.028
- Spillantini, M. G., Schmidt, M. L., Lee, V. M., Trojanowski, J. Q., Jakes, R., & Goedert, M. (1997). Alpha-synuclein in Lewy bodies. *Nature*, 388(6645), 839-840. doi:10.1038/42166

- Stacpoole, S. R., Spitzer, S., Bilican, B., Compston, A., Karadottir, R., Chandran, S., & Franklin, R. J. (2013). High yields of oligodendrocyte lineage cells from human embryonic stem cells at physiological oxygen tensions for evaluation of translational biology. *Stem Cell Reports*, 1(5), 437-450. doi:10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.09.006
- Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., & Yamanaka, S. (2007). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. *Cell*, 131(5), 861-872. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019
- Takahashi, K., & Yamanaka, S. (2006). Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell*, *126*(4), 663-676. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024
- Takeda, A., Hashimoto, M., Mallory, M., Sundsumo, M., Hansen, L., & Masliah, E. (2000). C-terminal alpha-synuclein immunoreactivity in structures other than Lewy bodies in neurodegenerative disorders. *Acta Neuropathol*, 99(3), 296-304.
- Terada, S., Ishizu, H., Yokota, O., Tsuchiya, K., Nakashima, H., Ishihara, T., Fujita, D., Ueda, K., Ikeda, K., & Kuroda, S. (2003). Glial involvement in diffuse Lewy body disease. *Acta Neuropathol*, 105(2), 163-169. doi:10.1007/s00401-002-0622-9
- Thompson, L. H., & Bjorklund, A. (2015). Reconstruction of brain circuitry by neural transplants generated from pluripotent stem cells. *Neurobiol Dis*, 79, 28-40. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2015.04.003
- Thomson, J. A., Itskovitz-Eldor, J., Shapiro, S. S., Waknitz, M. A., Swiergiel, J. J., Marshall, V. S., & Jones, J. M. (1998). Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. *Science*, 282(5391), 1145-1147.
- Tu, P. H., Galvin, J. E., Baba, M., Giasson, B., Tomita, T., Leight, S., Nakajo, S., Iwatsubo, T., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. (1998). Glial cytoplasmic inclusions in white matter oligodendrocytes of multiple system atrophy brains contain insoluble alphasynuclein. Ann Neurol, 44(3), 415-422. doi:10.1002/ana.410440324
- Ubhi, K., Low, P., & Masliah, E. (2011). Multiple system atrophy: a clinical and neuropathological perspective. *Trends Neurosci*, 34(11), 581-590. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2011.08.003
- Ueda, K., Fukushima, H., Masliah, E., Xia, Y., Iwai, A., Yoshimoto, M., Otero, D. A., Kondo, J., Ihara, Y., & Saitoh, T. (1993). Molecular cloning of cDNA encoding an unrecognized component of amyloid in Alzheimer disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90(23), 11282-11286.
- Ulmer, T. S., Bax, A., Cole, N. B., & Nussbaum, R. L. (2005). Structure and dynamics of micelle-bound human alpha-synuclein. J Biol Chem, 280(10), 9595-9603. doi:10.1074/jbc.M411805200
- Uryu, K., Richter-Landsberg, C., Welch, W., Sun, E., Goldbaum, O., Norris, E. H., Pham, C. T., Yazawa, I., Hilburger, K., Micsenyi, M., Giasson, B. I., Bonini, N. M., Lee, V. M., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2006). Convergence of heat shock protein 90 with ubiquitin in filamentous alpha-synuclein inclusions of alpha-synucleinopathies. *Am J Pathol*, 168(3), 947-961.
- Utton, M. A., Noble, W. J., Hill, J. E., Anderton, B. H., & Hanger, D. P. (2005). Molecular motors implicated in the axonal transport of tau and alpha-synuclein. *J Cell Sci*, 118(Pt 20), 4645-4654. doi:10.1242/jcs.02558

- Uversky, V. N. (2007). Neuropathology, biochemistry, and biophysics of alpha-synuclein aggregation. *J Neurochem*, 103(1), 17-37. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2007.04764.x
- Vila, M., Jackson-Lewis, V., Guegan, C., Wu, D. C., Teismann, P., Choi, D. K., Tieu, K., & Przedborski, S. (2001). The role of glial cells in Parkinson's disease. *Curr Opin Neurol*, 14(4), 483-489.
- Vila, M., Vukosavic, S., Jackson-Lewis, V., Neystat, M., Jakowec, M., & Przedborski, S. (2000). Alpha-synuclein up-regulation in substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons following administration of the parkinsonian toxin MPTP. *J Neurochem*, 74(2), 721-729.
- Volterra, A., & Meldolesi, J. (2005). Astrocytes, from brain glue to communication elements: the revolution continues. *Nat Rev Neurosci, 6*(8), 626-640. doi:10.1038/nrn1722
- Wakabayashi, K., Hayashi, S., Yoshimoto, M., Kudo, H., & Takahashi, H. (2000). NACP/alpha-synuclein-positive filamentous inclusions in astrocytes and oligodendrocytes of Parkinson's disease brains. *Acta Neuropathol, 99*(1), 14-20.
- Wakabayashi, K., Takahashi, H., Ohama, E., & Ikuta, F. (1990). Parkinson's disease: an immunohistochemical study of Lewy body-containing neurons in the enteric nervous system. Acta Neuropathol, 79(6), 581-583.
- Wakabayashi, K., Yoshimoto, M., Tsuji, S., & Takahashi, H. (1998). Alpha-synuclein immunoreactivity in glial cytoplasmic inclusions in multiple system atrophy. *Neurosci Lett*, 249(2-3), 180-182.
- Wang, S., Bates, J., Li, X., Schanz, S., Chandler-Militello, D., Levine, C., Maherali, N., Studer, L., Hochedlinger, K., Windrem, M., & Goldman, S. A. (2013). Human iPSC-derived oligodendrocyte progenitor cells can myelinate and rescue a mouse model of congenital hypomyelination. *Cell Stem Cell*, 12(2), 252-264. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2012.12.002
- Weinreb, P. H., Zhen, W., Poon, A. W., Conway, K. A., & Lansbury, P. T., Jr. (1996). NACP, a protein implicated in Alzheimer's disease and learning, is natively unfolded. *Biochemistry*, 35(43), 13709-13715. doi:10.1021/bi961799n
- Wenning, G. K., Ben Shlomo, Y., Magalhaes, M., Daniel, S. E., & Quinn, N. P. (1994). Clinical features and natural history of multiple system atrophy. An analysis of 100 cases. *Brain*, 117 (Pt 4), 835-845.
- Wenning, G. K., Stefanova, N., Jellinger, K. A., Poewe, W., & Schlossmacher, M. G. (2008). Multiple system atrophy: a primary oligodendrogliopathy. *Ann Neurol*, 64(3), 239-246. doi:10.1002/ana.21465
- Woodard, C. M., Campos, B. A., Kuo, S. H., Nirenberg, M. J., Nestor, M. W., Zimmer, M., Mosharov, E. V., Sulzer, D., Zhou, H., Paull, D., Clark, L., Schadt, E. E., Sardi, S. P., Rubin, L., Eggan, K., Brock, M., Lipnick, S., Rao, M., Chang, S., Li, A., & Noggle, S. A. (2014). iPSC-derived dopamine neurons reveal differences between monozygotic twins discordant for Parkinson's disease. *Cell Rep*, 9(4), 1173-1182. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.10.023
- Yang, H., Liu, C. C., Wang, C. Y., Zhang, Q., An, J., Zhang, L., & Hao, D. J. (2016). Therapeutical Strategies for Spinal Cord Injury and a Promising Autologous Astrocyte-Based Therapy Using Efficient Reprogramming Techniques. *Mol Neurobiol*, 53(5), 2826-2842. doi:10.1007/s12035-015-9157-7

- Yang, Y. M., Gupta, S. K., Kim, K. J., Powers, B. E., Cerqueira, A., Wainger, B. J., Ngo, H. D., Rosowski, K. A., Schein, P. A., Ackeifi, C. A., Arvanites, A. C., Davidow, L. S., Woolf, C. J., & Rubin, L. L. (2013). A small molecule screen in stem-cell-derived motor neurons identifies a kinase inhibitor as a candidate therapeutic for ALS. *Cell Stem Cell*, 12(6), 713-726. doi:10.1016/j.stem.2013.04.003
- Yeung, M. S., Zdunek, S., Bergmann, O., Bernard, S., Salehpour, M., Alkass, K., Perl, S., Tisdale, J., Possnert, G., Brundin, L., Druid, H., & Frisen, J. (2014). Dynamics of oligodendrocyte generation and myelination in the human brain. *Cell*, 159(4), 766-774. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.10.011
- Ying, Q. L., Stavridis, M., Griffiths, D., Li, M., & Smith, A. (2003). Conversion of embryonic stem cells into neuroectodermal precursors in adherent monoculture. *Nat Biotechnol*, 21(2), 183-186. doi:10.1038/nbt780
- Yoshida, M. (2007). Multiple system atrophy: alpha-synuclein and neuronal degeneration. *Neuropathology*, *27*(5), 484-493.
- Yuan, S. H., Martin, J., Elia, J., Flippin, J., Paramban, R. I., Hefferan, M. P., Vidal, J. G., Mu, Y., Killian, R. L., Israel, M. A., Emre, N., Marsala, S., Marsala, M., Gage, F. H., Goldstein, L. S., & Carson, C. T. (2011). Cell-surface marker signatures for the isolation of neural stem cells, glia and neurons derived from human pluripotent stem cells. *PLoS One*, 6(3), e17540. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0017540
- Zarranz, J. J., Alegre, J., Gomez-Esteban, J. C., Lezcano, E., Ros, R., Ampuero, I., Vidal, L., Hoenicka, J., Rodriguez, O., Atares, B., Llorens, V., Gomez Tortosa, E., del Ser, T., Munoz, D. G., & de Yebenes, J. G. (2004). The new mutation, E46K, of alphasynuclein causes Parkinson and Lewy body dementia. *Ann Neurol*, 55(2), 164-173. doi:10.1002/ana.10795
- Zhang, S. C., Wernig, M., Duncan, I. D., Brustle, O., & Thomson, J. A. (2001). In vitro differentiation of transplantable neural precursors from human embryonic stem cells. *Nat Biotechnol*, 19(12), 1129-1133. doi:10.1038/nbt1201-1129
- Zhang, W., Wang, T., Pei, Z., Miller, D. S., Wu, X., Block, M. L., Wilson, B., Zhang, W., Zhou, Y., Hong, J. S., & Zhang, J. (2005). Aggregated alpha-synuclein activates microglia: a process leading to disease progression in Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J*, 19(6), 533-542. doi:10.1096/fj.04-2751com
- Zhang, Y., Chen, K., Sloan, S. A., Bennett, M. L., Scholze, A. R., O'Keeffe, S., Phatnani, H. P., Guarnieri, P., Caneda, C., Ruderisch, N., Deng, S., Liddelow, S. A., Zhang, C., Daneman, R., Maniatis, T., Barres, B. A., & Wu, J. Q. (2014). An RNA-sequencing transcriptome and splicing database of glia, neurons, and vascular cells of the cerebral cortex. *J Neurosci*, 34(36), 11929-11947. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1860-14.2014



Co-expression of OCT4 (red) and NANOG (green) in induced pluripotent stem cells derived from a patient skin biopsy.

#### B E Staffan Holmqvist

Started his university studies with a course in geology. In 2008 he earned his bachelor in molecular biology when defending his thesis "A study on the response of Schwann cells after axonal damage". During his master studies Staffan had the opportunity to be part of a study in the Li laboratory, which



resulted in him defending his thesis "Assessment of long-distance propagation of Parkinson's disease pathology", earning his master degree in 2011. This work lead to the start of his doctoral studies under the supervision of Laurent Roybon and Jia-Yi Li.

On September the 6th 2016, Staffan will defend his doctoral thesis.



Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2016:87 ISBN 978-91-7619-313-6 ISSN 1652-8220

